




HATTERAS FINANCIAL

Dear Fellow Shareholders

Welcome to our annual performance review and thank you for being share

holder of Hatteras Financial Corp Please take the opportunity to peruse the

attached Annual Report on Form 10-K in which we provide additional details

on our financial performance for the 2011 fiscal year

In 2011 Hatteras achieved another strong year of returns on our capital and

the dividends distributed throughout the year made HTS nice addition to

an investment portfolio We were happy to pay our shareholders dividends

that totaled $3.90 per share for the year on per share earnings of $3.97 Our

book value per share increased from $24.84 at end of 2010 to $27.08 at

December 31 2011

Our continued pledge is to try to deliver attractive risk-adjusted returns over

the long term by way of conservative and consistent investment strategy

that you can understand and monitor We invest primarily in assets that are

adjustable-rate mortgages because they have shorter and more predictable

durations manageable volatility and therefore can be hedged more efficiently

We focus on investing at lower premiums to par value to mitigate and manage

our exposure to prepayments We finance our investments in the repurchase

agreement market and operate with leverage at level that allows sufficient

liquidity to manage through periods of market volatility We hedge our portfo

lio mainly with interest rate swaps to protect book value and lock in portion

of our funding costs In whole its straightforward transparent and proven

approach to managing risks and producing attractive returns over time

As we entered 2011 we took the opportunity to grow our balance sheet fur

ther and help improve the long-term performance profile of the company We

raised $330 million in follow-on offering in January 2011 and $475 million

in March 2011 to capitalize on lower liability costs and attractive interest

spreads These transactions were beneficial to your shares as both deals
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were executed at prices that were meaningfully accretive to book value and

long-term earnings We intentionally passed on other opportunities to raise

capital throughout the year because the benefits of investing then were not

as attractive

As 2011 progressed economic conditions became more challenging in the

U.S and globally moving interest rates downward again As it became clear

that the economic stimulus provided by the Federal Reserve and the U.S

government was not sufficient to support sustainable recovery interest

rates declined to historic lows The Federal Reserve influenced the markets

as it became more active in reshaping the yield curve lower and flatter in the

second half of the year to address continued weakness in the U.S housing

market and global economy

These low rate conditions can cause some headwinds for our business The

lower rates offer an incentive for borrowers to refinance which usually results

in an increase in prepayments in some of our mortgages Prepayments in

lower interest rate environment can push the average yield on our investment

portfolio lower as we reinvest the cash flow into the current market

The U.S government also worked to create and modify programs to help

troubled borrowers refinance their mortgages The first version of the pro

gram initially
introduced in 2009 was not as successful as originally intended

During the year revised plan was announced with implementation to begin

early in 2012 We do not own many mortgages affected by this revised plan

and as such expect it to have little impact this year on our business However

we will monitor current and prospective government policies to make sure

our portfolio of mortgages is properly positioned for changing market
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As we enter 2012 the current absolute low level of interest rates and the

Federal Reserves unprecedented influence over the yield curve requires us

to operate with increased prudence Taking the Federal Reserve and their

interest rate forecasts at face value indicates we will likely be operating in

low interest rate environment for an extended period of time However fore

casts and conditions can change and the Federal Reserve has historically

had limited success controlling the long end of the yield curve There is

significant variance in possible economic outcomes however whatever the

outcome may be we believe our focus on short duration adjustable-rate

mortgages hedged with similar duration swaps remains the best strategy to

generate attractive risk-adjusted return

We are proud of the important role we play in the U.S housing market as

specialist in acquiring and holding residential mortgage securities We

believe that our participation and the participation of our public residential

mortgage REIT peers helps reduce the cost of home ownership to the sub

stantial majority of Americans that borrow to acquire their family homes We

believe that Hatteras will be an integral part of the solution to the future of

single-family housing in the United States and we look forward to our contin

ued role in providing capital to this important market

We appreciate your interest in Hatteras Financial We are strongly committed

to ensuring our investors can easily understand our strategy and results

Please feel free to contact us with questions or with suggestions on how we

can improve our communication with you Thank you for being Hatteras

shareholder and for placing your trust and confidence in us in 2011

Sincerely

Michael Hough

and the entIre Hatteras team
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains various forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements relate to expectations

beliefs projections future plans and strategies anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning

matters that are not historical facts In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of

forward-looking terminology such as believes expects may will would could should seeks

approximately intends plans projects estimates or anticipates or the negative of these words and

phrases or similar words or phrases All forward-looking statements may be impacted by number of risks and

uncertainties including statements regarding the following subjects

our business and investment strategy

our anticipated results of operations

statements about future dividends

our ability to obtain financing arrangements

our understanding of our competition and ability to compete effectively

market industry and economic trends and

interest rates

The forward-looking statements in this report are based on our beliefs assumptions and expectations of our

future performance taking into account all information currently available to us These beliefs assumptions and

expectations are subject to risks and uncertainties and can change as result of many possible events or factors not

all of which are known to us If change occurs our business financial condition liquidity and results of

operations may vary materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements You should carefully

consider these risks before you make an investment decision with respect to our common stock along with the

following factors that could cause actual results to vary from our forward-looking statements

the factors referenced in this report including those set forth under the sections captioned Risk

Factors and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations

the federal conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related efforts along with any

changes in laws and regulations affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and

the federal government

mortgage loan modification programs and future legislative action

availability terms and deployment of capital

changes in economic conditions generally

changes in interest rates interest rate spreads the yield curve or prepayment rates

general volatility of the financial markets including markets for mortgage securities

inflation or deflation

availability of suitable investment opportunities



10 the degree and nature of our competition including competition for agency securities from the U.S

Treasury

11 changes in our business and investment strategy

12 our dependence on our manager and ability to find suitable replacement if our manager were to

terminate its management relationship with us

13 the existence of conflicts of interest in our relationship with our manager certain of our directors and

our officers which could result in decisions that are not in the best interest of our shareholders

14 changes in personnel at our manager or the availability of qualified personnel at our manager

15 limitations imposed on our business by our status as real estate investment trust REIT

16 changes in generally accepted accounting principles GAAP including interpretations thereof and

17 changes in applicable laws and regulations

We cannot guarantee future results levels of activity performance or achievements You should not place

undue reliance on forward-looking statements which apply only as of the date of this report We do not intend and

disclaim any duty or obligation to update or revise any industry information or forward-looking statements set forth

in this report to reflect new information future events or otherwise except as required under the U.S federal

securities laws

PART

Item Business

In this report unless the context suggests otherwise references to our company we us and our refers

to Hatteras Financial Corp and manager refers to Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC

Our Company

We are an externally-managed mortgage REIT that invests primarily in single-family residential mortgage pass-

through securities guaranteed or issued by U.S Government agency such as the Government National Mortgage

Association Ginnie Mae or by U.S Government-sponsored entity such as the Federal National Mortgage

Association Fannie Mae and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Freddie Mac We refer to

these securities as agency securities We were incorporated in Maryland in September 2007 and commenced

operations in November 2007 We listed our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE in

April 2008 and trade under the symbol HTS

We are externally-managed and advised by our manager Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC

We are organized and conduct our operations to qualify as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the Code and generally are not subject to federal taxes on our income to the extent we distribute our

income to our shareholders and maintain our qualification as REIT

Our Strategy

Our principal goal is to generate net income for distribution to our shareholders through regular quarterly

dividends from the difference between the interest income on our investment portfolio and the interest costs of our

borrowings and hedging activities which we refer to as our net interest income and other expenses
In general our

strategy is to manage interest rate risk while trying to eliminate any exposure to credit risk We believe that the best

approach to generating positive net interest income is to manage our liabilities in relation to the interest rate risks



of our investments To help achieve this result we employ repurchase financing generally short-term and combine

our financings with hedging techniques relying primarily on interest rate swaps We may subject to maintaining our

REIT qualification also employ other hedging techniques from time to time including interest rate caps floors and

swap options to protect against adverse interest rate movements

We focus on agency securities consisting of mortgage loans with short effective durations which we believe

limits the impact of changes in interest rates on the market value of our portfolio and on our net interest income

However because our investments vary in interest rate prepayment speed and maturity the leverage or borrowings

that we employ to fund our asset purchases will never exactly match the terms or performance of our assets even

after we have employed our hedging techniques Based on our managers experience the interest rates of our assets

will change more slowly than the corresponding short-term borrowings used to finance our assets Consequently

changes in interest rates particularly short-term interest rates may significantly influence our net income and

shareholders equity

Our managers approach to managing our portfolio is to take longer term view of assets and liabilities

accordingly our periodic earnings and mark-to-market valuations at the end of period will not significantly

influence our strategy of providing stable cash distributions to shareholders over the long term Our manager has

invested and seeks to invest in agency securities that it believes are likely to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns

on capital invested after considering the amount and nature of anticipated cash flows from the asset our

ability to borrow against the asset the capital requirements resulting from the purchase and financing of the

asset and the costs of financing hedging and managing the asset

Our Assets

Our focus on asset selection is to own assets with short durations and predictable prepayment characteristics

Since our formation all of our invested assets have been in agency securities and we currently intend that our

investment assets will continue to be agency securities These agency securities currently consist of mortgages that

have principal and interest payments guaranteed by Ginnie Mae Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac We invest in both

fixed-rate and adjustable-rate agency securities Adjustable rate mortgages ARMs are mortgages that have

floating interest rates that reset on specific time schedule such as monthly quarterly or annually based on

specified index such as the 12-month moving average
of the one-year constant maturity U.S Treasury rate

CMT or the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR The ARMs we generally invest in sometimes referred

to as hybrid ARMS have interest rates that are fixed for an initial period typically three five seven or 10 years

and then reset annually thereafter to an increment over pre-determined interest rate index

Our Borrowings

We borrow against our agency securities using repurchase agreements Our borrowings generally have

maturities that range from one month to one year although occasionally we may enter into longer dated borrowing

agreements to more closely match the rate adjustment period of our securities We intend that our borrowings will

generally be between eight and 12 times the amount of our shareholders equity The level of our borrowings may

vary periodically above or below this range depending on market conditions

Our Hedging

Our hedging strategies are designed to reduce the impact on our income and shareholders equity caused by the

potential adverse effects of changes in interest rates on our assets and liabilities Subject to complying with REIT

requirements we use hedging techniques to mitigate the risk of adverse changes in interest rates on the value of our

assets as well as the differences between the interest rate adjustments on our assets and borrowings These

techniques primarily consist of entering into interest rate swap agreements and may also include entering into

interest rate cap or floor agreements purchasing or selling futures contracts purchasing put and call options on

securities or securities underlying futures contracts or entering into forward rate agreements We intend to limit our

use of hedging instruments to only those techniques described above and to enter into hedging transactions only with

counterparties that we believe have strong credit rating to help mitigate the risk of counterparty default or

insolvency



We record our derivative and hedge transactions in accordance with United States GAAP If we fail to qualify

for hedge accounting treatment as prescribed by this accounting standard our operating results may suffer because

losses on the derivatives we enter into may not be offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows of the related

hedged transaction Consequently any declines in the hedged interest rates would result in charge to earnings

Purpose of and Changes in Strategies

Our investment financing and hedging strategies are designed to

limit credit risk

manage cash flows so as to provide for regular quarterly distributions to our shareholders

manage financing risks

mitigate the fluctuations in the market value of our securities due to changing interest rates

reduce the impact that changing interest rates have on our net interest income

maintain our qualification as REIT and

comply with available exemptions from regulation as an investment company under the Investment

Company Act of 1940 the Investment Company Act

Our board of directors has adopted policy that currently limits our investments to agency securities Due to

changes in market conditions the market value and duration of our securities will fluctuate from time to time and

may cause our portfolio allocations to be inconsistent with the investment strategies described in this report In such

event in consultation with our board of directors our manager may recommend that we should reallocate our

portfolio Subject to our intent to qualify for an exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act and

to maintain our qualification as REIT our board of directors with the approval of majority of our independent

directors may vary our investment strategy our financing strategy or our hedging strategy at any time

Our Manager

We believe our relationship with our manager Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC enables us to leverage our

managers infrastructure business relationships and management expertise to execute our investment strategy

effectively We believe that our managers expertise in mortgage REIT operations agency securities and the

mortgage-backed securities and leveraged finance markets enhances our ability to acquire assets opportunistically

and to finance those assets in manner designed to generate consistent risk-adjusted returns for our shareholders

Pursuant to the terms of the management agreement our manager provides us with our management team

including chief executive officer and chief financial officer each of whom also serves as an officer of our

manager along with appropriate support personnel Our manager is responsible for our operations and the

performance of all services and activities relating to the management of our assets and operations subject to the

direction of our board of directors

Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC manages both our company and ACM Financial Trust ACM privately

held mortgage REIT founded in 1998 Michael Hough our chief executive officer is also the chief executive

officer of our manager and ACM Our president Benjamin Hough chief financial officer Kenneth Steele co

chief investment officer William Gibbs Jr and co-chief investment officer Frederick Boos II are all also

executives of our manager and of ACM As of December 31 2011 ACM owned approximately $1.5 billion in

agency securities We do not own any interest in ACM



The Management Agreement

On February 23 2012 we entered into new management agreement with our manager Atlantic Capital

Advisors LLC The new management agreement replaced the 2007 management agreement entered into at the time

of our initial capitalization as private company and before initial public offering in 2008 The management

agreement requires our manager to manage our business affairs in conformity with policies and investment

guidelines that are approved by majority of our independent directors and monitored by our board of directors

Our manager is subject to the direction and oversight of our board of directors Our manager is responsible for

the identification selection purchase and sale of our portfolio investments our financing and risk

management activities and providing us with investment advisory services In addition our manager is

responsible for our day-to-day operations

The initial term of the management agreement expires on February 23 2015 Under terms of the agreement it

will automatically renew for an additional one year term on February 23 of each year thereafter unless terminated or

otherwise renegotiated

Our manager is entitled to receive management fee payable monthly in arrears in an amount equal to 1/12th of

an amount determined as follows

for our equity up to $250 million 1.50% Qer annum of equity plus

for our equity in excess of $250 million and up to $500 million 1.10% per annum of equity plus

for our equity in excess of $500 million and up to $750 million 0.80% per annum of equity plus

for our equity in excess of $750 million 0.50% per annum of equity

For purposes
of calculating the management fee we define equity as the value computed in accordance with

GAAP of our shareholders equity adjusted to exclude the effects of unrealized gains or losses

There is no incentive compensation payable to our manager pursuant to the management agreement

Competition

Our success depends in large part on our ability to acquire assets at favorable spreads over our borrowing

costs In acquiring agency securities we compete with other mortgage REITs mortgage finance and specialty

finance companies savings and loan associations banks mortgage bankers insurance companies mutual funds

institutional investors investment banking firms governmental bodies and other entities In addition there are

numerous mortgage REITs with similar asset acquisition objectives including ACM and others may be organized

in the future The effect of the existence of additional REITs may be to increase competition for the available

supply of mortgage assets suitable for purchase

Employees

We are managed by Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC pursuant to the management agreement between our

manager and us We do not have any employees whom we compensate directly with salaries or other cash

compensation Our manager has 11 employees

Additional Information

We have made available copies of the charters of the committees of our board of directors our code of business

ethics and conduct our corporate governance guidelines our whistleblower policy and any materials we file with

the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC on our website at www.ha/In.com Copies of these documents

are available in print to any shareholder who requests them Requests should be sent to Hatteras Financial Corp



110 Oakwood Drive Suite 340 Winston-Salem North Carolina 27103 Attention Corporate Secretary All filings

we make with the SEC are also available free of charge on our website

All reports filed with the SEC may also be read and copied at the SECs public reference room at 100 Street

N.E Washington D.C 20549 Further information regarding the operation of the public reference room may be

obtained by calling l-800-SEC-0330 In addition all of our filed reports can be obtained at the SECs website at

www.secgov

Item 1A Risk Factors

Investment in our common stock involves sign /Icant risks If any of the risks discussed in this report occur our

business financial condition liquidity and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected The risk

factors set forth below are not the only risks that may affect us Additional risks and uncertainties not presently

known to us or not identUled below may also materially affect our business financial condition liquidity and

results of operations Some statements in this report including statements in the following risk factors constitute

forward-looking statements Please refer to the section entitled Forward-Looking Statements

Risks Related to Our Management and Conflicts of Interest

We are dependent upon key employees of our manager and we may not find suitable replacements if these key

personnel are no longer available to us

Our success depends to significant degree upon the contributions of Messrs Michael and Benjamin Hough

and Messrs Steele Gibbs and Boos whose continued service is not guaranteed and each of whom would be

difficult to replace Because these key personnel collectively have substantial amount of experience in the fixed

income markets and these key personnel have prior experience managing mortgage REIT we depend on their

experience and expertise to manage our day-to-day operations and our strategic business direction In addition

many of these individuals have strong industry reputations which aid us in identifying and financing investment

opportunities The loss of the services of these key personnel could diminish our relationships with lenders and

industry personnel and harm our business and our prospects We cannot assure you that these individuals can be

replaced with equally skilled and experienced professionals

The management agreement between us and our manager was not negotiated on an arms-length basis and the

terms including fees payable may not be as favorable to us as if it was negotiated with an unaffiliated third

party

Because our executive officers and two of our directors are also officers and owners of our manager the

management agreement was not negotiated on an arms-length basis and we did not have the benefit of arms-length

negotiations of the type normally conducted with an unaffiliated third party As result the terms including fees

payable may not be as favorable to us as an arms-length agreement Furthermore because our executive officers

and two of our directors are also officers and owners of our manager we may choose not to enforce or to enforce

less vigorously our rights under the management agreement because of our desire to maintain our ongoing

relationship with our manager

Termination by us of our management agreement with our manager without cause is difficult and costly

The term of our management agreement expires on February 23 2015 The agreement is automatically

renewed for one-year term on each anniversary date thereafter unless terminated Our independent directors

review our managers performance periodically and the management agreement may be terminated upon the

affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors or by vote of the holders of majority of our

outstanding common stock based upon unsatisfactory performance by our manager that is materially

detrimental to us or determination that the management fees payable to our manager are not fair subject to our

managers right to prevent such termination by accepting reduction of management fees agreed to by at least

two-thirds of our independent directors and our manager



We must provide 180 days prior notice of any such termination Our manager will be paid termination fee

equal to four times the average annual management fee earned by our manager during the two years immediately

preceding termination The termination fee may make it more difficult for us to terminate the management

agreement These provisions increase the cost to us of terminating the management agreement thereby adversely

affecting our ability to terminate our manager without cause

Our manager may allocate mortgage-related opportunities to ACM and thus may divert attractive investment

opportunities away from us

Each of our executive officers and some of our directors also serve as officers and owners of our manager Our

manager is also the external manager of ACM private mortgage REIT with investment objectives that are similar

to ours Furthermore three of our executive officers Messrs Michael and Benjamin Hough and Mr Gibbs are also

executive officers and directors of ACM Mr Steele serves as our chief financial officer and also as chief financial

officer of ACM Mr Boos serves as our co-chief investment officer and also as chief investment strategist of ACM
Our executive officers who as of December 31 2011 collectively and beneficially owned approximately 1.7% of

the outstanding common stock of ACM on diluted basis intend to continue in such capacities with ACM Most

investment opportunities that are suitable for us are also suitable for ACM therefore these dual responsibilities

create conflicts of interest for these officers in the event they are presented with opportunities that may benefit either

us or ACM Our management agreement requires our manager to allocate investments between us and ACM by

determining the entity for which they believe the investment opportunity is most suitable In making this

determination our manager considers the investment strategy and guidelines of each entity with respect to

acquisition of assets portfolio needs market conditions cash flow and other factors that they deem appropriate

However our manager generally has no obligation to make any specific investment opportunities available to us

and the above mentioned conflicts of interest may result in decisions or allocations of securities that may benefit one

entity more than the other Thus the executive officers of our manager could direct attractive investment

opportunities to ACM instead of to us Such events could result in us investing in investments that provide less

attractive returns reducing the level of distributions we may be able to pay to our shareholders

Furthermore in the future our manager may sponsor or provide management services to other investment

vehicles with investment objectives that overlap with ours Accordingly we may further compete for access to the

benefits that we expect our relationship with our manager to provide and for the time of its key employees

Our manager and its key employees who are our executive officers face competing demands relating to their

time and this may adversely affect our operations

We rely on our manager and its employees including Messrs Michael and Benjamin Hough and Messrs

Steele Gibbs and Boos for the day-to-day operation of our business Our manager is also the manager of ACM and

each of the key employees of our manager are executive officers of ACM As result of their interests in ACM
Messrs Michael and Benjamin Hough and Messrs Steele Gibbs and Boos face conflicts of interest in allocating

their time among us and ACM

Because our manager has duties to ACM as well as to our company we do not have the undivided attention of

the management team of our manager and our manager faces conflicts in allocating management time and resources

between our company and ACM Further during turbulent market conditions or other times when we need focused

support and assistance from our manager ACM or other entities for which our manager also acts as an investment

manager will likewise require greater focus and attention placing competing high levels of demand on our

managers limited resources In such situations we may not receive the necessary support and assistance we require

or would otherwise receive if we were internally managed or if our manager did not act as manager for other

entities

Our board of directors approved broad investment guidelines for our manager and do not approve each

investment decision made by our manager as result our manager may cause us to acquire assets that produce

investment returns that are below expectations or that result in net operating losses

Our manager is authorized to follow broad investment guidelines Our board of directors including our

independent directors periodically reviews our investment guidelines and our investment policies However our



board does not review each proposed investment In addition in conducting periodic reviews the board of directors

relies primarily on information provided to it by our manager Furthermore transactions entered into by our

manager may be difficult or impossible to unwind by the time they are reviewed by the board of directors Our

manager has great latitude with the investment guidelines in determining the types of assets it may decide are proper

investments for us

Because our board of directors could change our investment policies without shareholder approval to permit us

to invest in investments other than agency securities we may invest in assets that bear greater credit interest rate

prepayment or passive investment risks

If market conditions change our board of directors could change our investment policies without shareholder

approval to permit us to invest in investments other than agency securities such as other investment-grade mortgage

assets other real estate-related investments which may not be investment grade that management determines are

consistent with our asset allocation policy and with our tax status as REIT and the securities of other REITs If

we acquire investments of lower credit quality our profitability may decline and we may incur losses if there are

defaults on assets underlying those investments or if the rating agencies downgrade the credit quality of those

investments

Investing in other REITs involves obtaining interests in real estate-related investments indirectly which carries

several risks including the following

returns on our investments are not directly linked to returns on the assets of the REITs in which we

invest

we may have no ability to affect the management investment decisions or operations of the REITs in

which we invest

prices of publicly-traded securities are likely to be volatile and

the disposition value of investments is dependent upon general and specific market conditions

Each of these risks could cause the performance of our investments in other REITs to be lower than anticipated

which would adversely impact the overall returns for our portfolio

Our managers management fee is payable regardless of our performance

Our manager is entitled to receive management fee from us that is based on the amount of our equity as
defined in the management agreement regardless of the performance of our portfolio For example we would pay

our manager management fee for specific period even if we experienced net loss during the same period Our

managers entitlement to substantial nonperformance-based compensation might reduce its incentive to devote its

time and effort to seeking investments that provide attractive risk-adjusted returns for our portfolio This in turn

could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders and the market price of our common

stock

Risks Related to Our Business

Volatile market conditions for mortgages and mortgage-related assets as well as the broader financial markets

may adversely affect the value of the assets in which we invesL

Our results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the markets for mortgages and mortgage

related assets including agency securities as well as the broader financial markets and the economy generally

Beginning in 2007 significant adverse changes in financial market conditions resulted in deleveraging of the entire

global financial system and the forced sale of large quantities of mortgage-related and other financial assets More

recently concerns over economic recession inflation geopolitical issues unemployment the availability and cost of

financing the mortgage market and declining real estate market have contributed to increased volatility and



diminished expectations for the economy and markets In particular the residential mortgage market in the United

States has experienced variety of difficulties and changed economic conditions including defaults credit losses

and liquidity concerns Certain commercial banks investment banks and insurance companies have announced

extensive losses from exposure to the residential mortgage market These factors have impacted investor perception

of the risk associated with agency securities in which we invest As result values for agency securities in which

we invest have experienced volatility Any decline in the value of our investments or perceived market uncertainty

about their value would likely make it difficult for us to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all or maintain

our compliance with terms of any financing arrangements already in place Further increased volatility and

deterioration in the broader residential mortgage and agency securities markets may adversely affect the

performance and market value of our investments

The federal conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related efforts along with any changes in laws

and regulations affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the federal government

may adversely affect our business

The payments we expect to receive on the agency securities in which we invest depend upon steady stream of

payments on the mortgages underlying the securities and are guaranteed by Ginnie Mae Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac Ginnie Mae is part of U.S Government agency and its guarantees are backed by the full faith and credit of

the United States Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are U.S Government-sponsored entities but their guarantees are

not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States

Since 2007 Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have reported substantial losses and need for substantial amounts of

additional capital In response to the deteriorating financial condition of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the credit

market disruption Congress and the U.S Treasury undertook series of actions to stabilize these government-

sponsored entities and the financial markets generally The Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 was

signed into law on July 30 2008 and established the Federal Housing Finance Agency FHFA with enhanced

regulatory authority over among other things the business activities of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the size of

their portfolio holdings On September 2008 FHFA placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into federal

conservatorship which is statutory process pursuant to which the FHFA will operate Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

support availability of mortgage financing and protect taxpayers Appointing FHFA as conservator of both Fannie

Mae and Freddie Mac allows the FHFA to control the actions of the government-sponsored entities without forcing

them to liquidate which would be the case under receivership In addition the U.S Treasury has taken steps to

capitalize and provide financing to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and agreed to purchase direct obligations and

agency securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

Shortly after Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed in federal conservatorship the Secretary of the U.S

Treasury noted that the guarantee payment structure of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac required examination and that

changes in the structures of the entities were necessary The future roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be

significantly reduced and the nature of their guarantees could be eliminated or considerably limited relative to

historical measurements Any changes to the nature of the guarantees provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

could redefine what constitutes an agency security and could have broad adverse market implications as well as

negatively impact us

The problems faced by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac resulting in their being placed into federal conservatorship

have stirred debate among some federal policy makers regarding the continued role of the U.S Government in

providing liquidity for the residential mortgage market Following expiration of the current authorization each of

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be dissolved and the U.S Government could decide to stop providing liquidity

support of any kind to the mortgage market If Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac were eliminated or their structures were

to change radically we would not be able to acquire agency securities from these companies which would

drastically reduce the amount and type of agency securities available for investment which are our only targeted

investments

Our income could be negatively affected in number of ways depending on the manner in which related events

unfold For example the current credit support provided by the U.S Treasury to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and

any additional credit support it may provide in the future could have the effect of lowering the interest rate we

expect to receive from agency securities thereby tightening the spread between the interest we earn on our portfolio
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of targeted assets and our cost of financing that portfolio reduction in the supply of
agency

securities could also

negatively affect the pricing of agency securities we seek to acquire by reducing the spread between the interest we

earn on our portfolio of targeted assets and our cost of financing that portfolio

As indicated above recent legislation has changed the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and

the U.S Government and requires Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to reduce the amount of mortgage loans they own

or for which they provide guarantees on agency securities Future legislation could further change the relationship

between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the federal government and could also nationalize or eliminate such

entities entirely Any law affecting these government-sponsored enterprises may create market uncertainty and have

the effect of reducing the actual or perceived credit quality of securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or

Freddie Mac As result such laws could increase the risk of loss on investments in Fannie Mae and/or Freddie

Mac agency securities It also is possible that such laws could adversely impact the market for such securities and

spreads at which they trade All of the foregoing could materially adversely affect our business operations and

financial condition

Dificult conditions in the financial markets and the economy generally have caused many lenders including

some of our own lenders to suffer substantial losses and may cause us losses related to our agency securities

and there is no assurance that these conditions will improve in the nearfuture As result we may not be able to

obtain cost-effr ctive financing

Our results of operations are materially affected by conditions in the financial markets and the economy

generally Recently concerns over inflation energy costs geopolitical issues unemployment the availability and

cost of credit the mortgage market and declining real estate market have contributed to increased volatility and

diminished expectations for the economy and markets

Dramatic declines in the housing market with decreasing home prices and increasing foreclosures and

unemployment have resulted in significant asset write-downs by financial institutions which have caused many
financial institutions to seek additional capital to merge with other institutions and in some cases to fail We rely

on the availability of financing to acquire agency securities on leveraged basis Institutions from which we seek to

obtain financing may have owned or financed residential mortgage loans real estate-related securities and real estate

loans which have declined in value and caused losses as result of the recent downturn in the markets Many
lenders and institutional investors have reduced and in some cases ceased to provide funding to borrowers

including other financial institutions If these conditions persist these institutions may become insolvent or tighten

their lending standards which could make it more difficult for us to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all

Our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain cost-effective

financing for our investments

The downgrade of the U.S governments or certain European countries credit ratings and any future

downgrades of the U.S governments or certain European countries credit ratings may materially adversely

affect our business financial condition and results of operations

On August 2011 Standard Poors downgraded the U.S governments credit rating for the first time in

history Because Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are in conservatorship of the U.S government downgrades to the

U.S governments credit rating could impact the credit risk associated with
agency

securities and therefore

decrease the value of the agency securities in our portfolio In addition the downgrade of the U.S governments

credit rating and the credit ratings of certain European countries has created broader financial turmoil and

uncertainty which has weighed heavily on the global banking system Therefore the recent downgrade of the U.S

governments credit rating and the credit ratings of certain European countries and any future downgrades of the

U.S governments credit rating or the credit ratings of certain European countries may materially adversely affect

our business financial condition and results of operations
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There can be no assurance that the actions taken by the U.S Government for the purpose of stabilizing or

reforming the financial markets or market response to those actions may not achieve the intended effect or

benefit our business and may adversely affect us

In response to the financial issues affecting the banking system and financial markets and going concern threats

to commercial banks investment banks and other financial institutions the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act

of 2008 EESA was enacted by the U.S Congress There can be no assurance that the EESA or any
other U.S

Government actions will have beneficial impact on the financial markets To the extent the markets do not

respond favorably to any such actions by the U.S Government or such actions do not function as intended our

business may not receive the anticipated positive impact from the legislation and such result may have broad adverse

market implications

In July 2010 the U.S Congress enacted the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the
Dodd-Frank Act in part to impose significant investment restrictions and capital requirements on banking entities

and other organizations that are significant to U.S financial markets For instance the Dodd-Frank Act will impose

significant restrictions on the proprietary trading activities of certain banking entities and subject other systemically

significant organizations regulated by the U.S Federal Reserve to increased capital requirements and quantitative

limits for engaging in such activities The Dodd-Frank Act also seeks to reform the asset-backed securitization

market including the mortgage-backed securities market by requiring the retention of portion of the credit risk

inherent in the pool of securitized assets and by imposing additional registration and disclosure requirements

Certain of the new requirements and restrictions exempt agency securities other government issued or guaranteed

securities or other securities Nonetheless the Dodd-Frank Act also imposes significant regulatory restrictions on

the origination of residential mortgage loans While the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act cannot be assessed until

implementing regulations are released the Dodd-Frank Acts extensive requirements may have significant effect

on the financial markets and may affect the availability or terms of financing from our lender counterparties and the

availability or terms of mortgage-backed securities both of which may have an adverse effect on our business

In addition U.S Government Federal Reserve U.S Treasury and other governmental and regulatory bodies

have taken or are considering taking other actions to address the financial crisis We cannot predict whether or

when such actions may occur or what affect if any such actions could have on our business results of operations

and financial condition

Certain actions by the U.S Federal Reserve could cause flattening of the yield curve which could materially

adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to

our shareholders

On September 21 2011 the U.S Federal Reserve announced Operation Twist which is program by which

it intends to purchase by the end of June 2012 $400 billion of U.S Treasury securities with remaining maturities

between six and 30 years
and sell an equal amount of U.S Treasury securities with remaining maturities of three

years or less The effect of Operation Twist could be flattening in the yield curve which could result in increased

prepayment rates due to lower long-term interest rates and narrowing of our net interest margin Consequently

Operation Twist and any other future securities purchase programs by the U.S Federal Reserve could materially

adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our

shareholders

Mortgage loan modfication programs and future legislative action may adversely affect the value of and the

returns on the agency securities in which we invest

During 2008 and 2009 the U.S Government through the Federal Housing Authority and the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation commenced implementation of programs designed to provide homeowners with assistance in

avoiding residential mortgage loan foreclosures The programs involve among other things the modification of

mortgage loans to reduce the principal amount of the loans or the rate of interest payable on the loans or to extend

the payment terms of the loans In September 2011 the White House announced they are working on major plan

to allow certain homeowners who owe more on their mortgages than their homes are worth to refinance In

October 2011 the FHFA announced changes to the Home Affordable Refinance Program HARP to expand

access to refinancing for qualified individuals and families whose homes have lost value including increasing the
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HARP loan-to-value ratio above 125% However this would only apply to mortgages guaranteed by the U.S

government-sponsored entities There are many challenging issues to this proposal notably the question as to

whether loan with loan-to-value ratio of 125% qualifies as mortgage or an unsecured consumer loan The

chances of this initiatives success have created additional uncertainty in the agency securities market particularly

with respect to possible increases in prepayment rates

On January 2012 the U.S Federal Reserve issued white paper outlining additional ideas with regard to

refinancings and loan modifications It is likely that loan modifications would result in increased prepayments on

some agency securities These loan modification programs as well as future legislative or regulatory actions

including amendments to the bankruptcy laws that result in the modification of outstanding mortgage loans may

adversely affect the value of and the returns on the agency securities in which we invest

If we are unable to find suitable investments we may not be able to achieve our investment objectives or pay

dividends

The availability of mortgage-related assets meeting our criteria depends upon among other things the level of

activity and quality of and demand for securities in the mortgage securitization and secondary markets The market

for agency securities depends upon various factors including the level of activity in the residential real estate market

the level of and difference between short-term and long-term interest rates incentives for issuers to securitize

mortgage loans and demand for agency securities by institutional investors The size and level of activity in the

residential real estate lending market depends on various factors including the level of interest rates regional and

national economic conditions and real estate values To the extent we are unable to acquire sufficient volume of

mortgage-related assets meeting our criteria our results of operations would be adversely affected Furthermore we

cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire sufficient mortgage-related assets at spreads above our costs of

funds

disproportionate rise in short-term interest rates as compared to longer-term interest rates may adversely affect

our income

The relationship between short-term and longer-tenn interest rates is often referred to as the yield curve

Ordinarily short-term interest rates are lower than longer-term interest rates If short-term interest rates rise

disproportionately relative to longer-term interest rates flattening of the yield curve our borrowing costs may

increase more rapidly than the interest income earned on our assets Because we expect our investments on

average generally will bear interest based on longer-term rates than our borrowings flattening of the yield curve

would tend to decrease our net income and the market value of our net assets Additionally to the extent cash flows

from investments that return scheduled and unscheduled principal are reinvested the spread between the yields on

the new investments and available borrowing rates may decline which would likely decrease our net income It is

also possible that short-term interest rates may exceed longer-term interest rates yield curve inversion in which

event our borrowing costs may exceed our interest income and we could incur operating losses

flat or inverted yield curve may adversely affect agency securities prepayment rates and supply

Our net interest income varies primarily as result of changes in interest rates as well as changes in interest

rates across the yield curve We believe that when the yield curve is relatively flat borrowers have an incentive to

refinance into mortgages with longer initial fixed rate periods and fixed rate mortgages causing our agency

securities to experience faster prepayments In addition flatter yield curve generally leads to fixed-rate mortgage

rates that are closer to the interest rates available on adjustable-rate mortgages possibly decreasing the supply of

agency
securities At times short-term interest rates may increase and exceed long-term interest rates causing an

inverted yield curve When the yield curve is inverted fixed-rate mortgage rates may approach or be lower than

adjustable-rate mortgage rates further increasing agency securities prepayments and further negatively impacting

agency securities supply Increases in prepayments on our portfolio will cause our premium amortization to

accelerate lowering the yield on such assets If this happens we could experience decrease in net income or incur

net loss during these periods which may negatively impact our distributions to shareholders
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Interest rate mismatches between our agency securities and our borrowings used to fund our purchases of these

securities may reduce our income during periods of changing interest rates

Historically we have funded most of our investments in adjustable-rate agency securities with borrowings that

have interest rates that adjust more frequently than the interest rate indices and repricing terms of our agency

securities Accordingly if short-term interest rates increase our borrowing costs may increase faster than the

interest rates on our adjustable-rate securities adjust As result in period of rising interest rates we could

experience decrease in net income or net loss

Our investment strategy focuses on the acquisition of adjustable-rate agency securities This means that their

interest rates may vary over time based upon changes in an identified short-term interest rate index In most cases

the interest rate indices and repricing terms of the agency securities that we acquire and our borrowings will not be

identical thereby potentially creating an interest rate mismatch between our investments and our borrowings While

the historical spread between relevant short-term interest rate indices has been relatively stable there have been

periods when the spread between these indices was volatile See Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of OperationsMarket and Interest Rate Trends and the Effect on our Portfolio

Interest Rates During periods of changing interest rates these interest rate index mismatches could reduce our net

income or produce net loss and adversely affect our dividends and the market price of our common stock

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors including governmental monetary and tax policies domestic

and international economic and political considerations and other factors all of which are beyond our control

Interest rate caps on our adjustable-rate agency securities may reduce our income or cause us to suffer loss

during periods of rising interest rates

The mortgage loans underlying our adjustable-rate securities typically will be subject to periodic and lifetime

interest rate caps Additionally we may invest in ARMs with an initial teaser rate that will provide us with

lower than market interest rate initially which may accordingly have lower interest rate caps than ARMs without

such teaser rates Periodic interest rate caps limit the amount an interest rate can increase during given period

Lifetime interest rate caps
limit the amount an interest rate can increase through maturity of mortgage loan If

these interest rate caps apply to the mortgage loans underlying our adjustable-rate securities the interest

distributions made on the related securities will be similarly impacted Our borrowings may not be subject to similar

interest rate caps Accordingly in period of rapidly increasing interest rates the interest rates paid on our

borrowings could increase without limitation while caps would limit the interest distributions on our adjustable-rate

agency securities Further some of the mortgage loans underlying our adjustable-rate agency securities may be

subject to periodic payment caps that result in portion of the interest on those loans being deferred and added to the

principal outstanding As result we could receive less interest distributions on adjustable-rate agency securities

particularly those with an initial teaser rate than we need to pay interest on our related borrowings These factors

could lower our net interest income cause us to suffer net loss or cause us to incur additional borrowings to fund

interest payments during periods of rising interest rates or sell our investments at loss

Because we may acquire fixed-rate securities an increase in interest rates may adversely affrct our book value

Increases in interest rates may negatively affect the market value of our agency securities Any fixed-rate

securities we invest in generally will be more negatively affected by these increases than adjustable-rate securities

In accordance with accounting rules we are required to reduce our shareholders equity or book value by the

amount of any decrease in the market value of our mortgage-related assets We are required to evaluate our

securities on quarterly basis to determine their fair value by primarily using third-party pricing services and

broker-dealer quotes The third-party pricing services gather trade data and use pricing models that incorporate such

factors as coupons primary mortgage rates prepayment speeds spread to the Treasury and interest rate swap

curves periodic and life caps and other similar factors Traders at broker-dealers function as market-makers for

these securities and these brokers have direct view of the trading activity If the fair value of security is not

available from dealer or third-party pricing service we estimate the fair value of the security using variety of

methods including but not limited to other independent pricing services repurchase agreement pricing discounted

cash flow analysis matrix pricing option adjusted spread models and other fundamental analysis of observable

market factors Aggregate characteristics taken into consideration include but are not limited to type of collateral
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index margin periodic cap lifetime cap underwriting standards age and delinquency experience However the

fair value reflects estimates and may not be indicative of the amounts we would receive in current market

exchange If we are required by accounting rules to reduce the value of one or more agency
securities on our

balance sheet then our shareholders equity would be correspondingly reduced Reductions in shareholders equity

decrease the amounts we may borrow to purchase additional securities which could restrict our ability to increase

our net income

Our delayed delivery transactions including to-be-announced TBA transactions subject us to certain

risks including price risks and counterparty risks

We purchase substantial portion of our agency securities through delayed delivery transactions including

TBAs In delayed delivery transaction we enter into forward purchase agreement with counterparty to

purchase either identified agency securities or to-be-issued or to-be-announced agency
securities with

certain terms As with any
forward purchase contract the value of the underlying agency securities may decrease

between the contract date and the settlement date Furthermore transaction counterparty may fail to deliver the

underlying agency securities at the settlement date If any of the above risks were to occur our financial condition

and results of operations may be materially adversely affected

Because we acquire agency securities that are backed by hybrid ARMs and fixed-rate securities an increase in

interest rates may adversely afftct our profitability

Most of our investments currently consist of agency
securities that are backed by hybrid ARMs which have

fixed rate for an initial period of time before becoming adjustable-rate securities or fixed-rate mortgage securities

In period of rising interest rates the interest payments on our borrowings could increase while the interest

payments we earn on our hybrid mortgage securities and fixed-rate mortgage securities would not change As

result our returns would be reduced

We may experience decline in the market value of our assets

decline in the market value of our agency securities or other assets may require us to recognize an other-

than-temporary impairment against such assets under GAAP if we were to determine that with respect to any

assets in uurealized loss positions we do not have the ability and intent to hold such assets to maturity or for

period of time sufficient to allow for recovery to the amortized cost of such assets If such determination were to

be made we would recognize unrealized losses through earnings and write down the amortized cost of such assets to

new cost basis based on the fair market value of such assets on the date they are considered to be other-than-

temporarily impaired Such impairment charges reflect non-cash losses at the time of recognition subsequent

disposition or sale of such assets could further affect our future losses or gains as they are based on the difference

between the sale price received and adjusted amortized cost of such assets at the time of sale In this regard we note

that the fair market value of our agency securities is and has been affected by changes in interest rates and relative

credit spreads or the differences in value between agency securities and U.S Treasuries with similar durations

See Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsMarket and

Interest Rate Trends and the Effect on our Portfolio

Changes in prepayment rates on our agency securities may decrease our net interest income

Pools of mortgage loans underlie the agency securities that we acquire We will generally receive principal

distributions from the principal payments that are made on these underlying mortgage loans When borrowers repay

their mortgage loans faster than expected this results in prepayments to us that are faster than expected on the

related agency securities Prepayment rates are influenced by changes in current interest rates and variety of

economic geographic and other factors all of which are beyond our control Prepayment rates generally increase

when interest rates fall and decrease when interest rates rise but changes in prepayment rates are difficult to predict

Prepayment rates also may be affected by conditions in the housing and financial markets government actions

general economic conditions and the relative interest rates on fixed-rate and adjustable-rate mortgage loans Faster

than expected prepayments could adversely affect our profitability including in the following ways
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We may purchase agency securities that have higher interest rate than the market interest rate at the

time of purchase In exchange for this higher interest rate we would be required to pay premium

over the face amount of the security to acquire the security In accordance with accounting rules we

would amortize this premium over the term of the mortgage security If principal distributions are

received faster than anticipated we would be required to expense the premium faster We may not be

able to reinvest the principal distributions received on agency securities in similar new agency

securities and to the extent that we can do so the effective interest rates on the new agency securities

will likely be lower than the yields on the mortgages that were prepaid

We also may acquire agency securities at discount If the actual prepayment rates on discount

mortgage security are slower than anticipated at the time of purchase we would be required to

recognize the discount as income more slowly than anticipated This would adversely affect our

profitability Slower than expected prepayments also may adversely affect the market value of

discount mortgage security

Competition may prevent us from acquiring agency securities at favorable yields and that would negatively

impact our profitability

Our net income largely depends on our ability to acquire agency
securities at favorable spreads over our

borrowing costs In acquiring agency securities we compete with other mortgage REITs mortgage finance and

specialty finance companies savings and loan associations banks mortgage bankers insurance companies mutual

funds institutional investors investment banking firms other lenders and other entities that purchase mortgage-

related assets Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial technical

and marketing resources than we do Several other REITs have recently raised or are expected to raise significant

amounts of capital and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours which may create competition for

investment opportunities As result we may not in the future be able to acquire sufficient agency securities at

favorable spreads over our borrowing costs which would adversely affect our profitability

Rapid changes in the values of our real estate-related investments may make it difficult for us to maintain our

qualification as REIT or exemption from the Investment Company AcL

We may acquire non-real estate related assets in the event our independent directors change our investment

strategies If the market value or income potential of real estate-related investments declines as result of increased

interest rates prepayment rates or other factors we may need to increase our real estate investments and income

and/or liquidate our non-qualifying assets in order to maintain our REIT qualification or exemption from the

Investment Company Act If the decline in real estate asset values and/or income occurs quickly this may be

especially difficult to accomplish This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of any non-real estate

assets that we may own We may have to make investment decisions that we otherwise would not make absent the

REIT and Investment Company Act considerations

Because assets we expect to acquire may experience periods of illiquidity we may lose profits or be prevented

from earning capital gains if we cannot sell mortgage-related assets at an opportune time

We bear the risk of being unable to dispose of our mortgage-related assets at advantageous times or in timely

maimer because mortgage-related assets generally experience periods of illiquidity including the recent period of

delinquencies and defaults with respect to residential mortgage loans The lack of liquidity may result from the

absence of willing buyer or an established market for these assets as well as legal or contractual restrictions on

resale or the unavailability of financing for these assets As result our ability to vary our portfolio in response to

changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited which may cause us to incur losses

Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversely affect our earnings

Subject to complying with REIT requirements we employ techniques that limit or hedge the adverse effects

of rising interest rates on our short-term repurchase agreements and on the value of our assets Our hedging activity

will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rates and principal repayments the type of securities
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held and other changing market conditions These techniques may include entering into interest rate swap

agreements or interest rate cap or floor agreements purchasing or selling futures contracts purchasing put and call

options on securities or securities underlying futures contracts or entering into forward rate agreements We have

implemented policy to limit our use of hedging instruments to only those techniques described above and to only

enter into hedging transactions with counterparties that have high-quality credit rating However there are no

perfect hedging strategies and interest rate hedging may fail to protect us from loss In addition these hedging

strategies may adversely affect us because hedging activities involve an expense that we will incur regardless of the

effectiveness of the hedging activity Hedging activities could result in losses if the event against which we hedge

does not occur Additionally interest rate hedging could fail to protect us or adversely affect us because among

other things

available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which

protection is sought

the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability

fair value accounting rules could foster adverse valuation adjustments due to credit quality

considerations that could impact both earnings and shareholder equity

the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay

the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it

impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction and

the value of derivatives used for hedging may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with

accounting rules to reflect changes in fair value Downward adjustments or mark-to-market losses

would reduce our shareholders equity

We may fail to qualtjjfor hedge accounting treatmenL

We record derivative and hedge transactions in accordance with GAAP specifically according to the

Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic on Derivatives Under these standards we may fail to qualify

for hedge accounting treatment for number of reasons including if we use instruments that do not meet the

definition of derivative such as short sales we fail to satisfy hedge documentation and hedge effectiveness

assessment requirements or our instruments are not highly effective If we fail to qualify for hedge accounting

treatment our operating results may suffer because losses on the derivatives we enter into may not be offset by

change in the fair value of the related hedged transaction

We are highly dependent on information and communications systems Any systems failures could signflcantly

disrupt our business which may in turn negatively afftct our operations and the market price of our common

stock and our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders

Our business is highly dependent on communications and information systems Any failure or interruption of

our managers systems could cause delays or other problems in our agency
securities trading activities which could

have material adverse effect on our operating results the market price of our common stock and our ability to pay

dividends to our shareholders

Risks Related to Debt Financing

We incur signficant debt to finance our investments which subjects us to increased risk of loss

We generally borrow between eight and 12 times the amount of our shareholders equity although our

borrowings may at times be above or below this amount As of December 31 2011 our borrowings were

approximately $16.2 billion and our debt-to-shareholders equity ratio was approximately 7.81 To the extent we

exceed debt-to-shareholders equity ratio of 121 the adverse impact on our financial condition and results of
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operations from the types of risks described in this section would likely be more severe We incur leverage by

borrowing against our agency securities Incurring debt subjects us to many risks including the risks that

our cash flow from operations will be insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest

resulting in the loss of some or all of our securities due to foreclosure or sale in order to satisfy our

debt obligations

our debt may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions

we may be required to dedicate substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on

our debt thereby reducing funds available for distribution to shareholders funding our operations

future business opportunities or other purposes

the terms of any refinancing will not be as favorable as the terms of the debt being refinanced

the use of leverage could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders and

could reduce the market price of our stock

default under loan could result in an involuntary liquidation of the securities pledged for such loan

including any cross-collateralized securities which would result in loss to us of the difference

between the value of the securities upon liquidation and the carrying value of the securities and

to the extent we are compelled to liquidate assets to repay debts such an event could jeopardize our

REIT status or our exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act the loss of

either of which could decrease our overall profitability and our ability to make distributions to our

shareholders

decrease in the value of assets financed through repurchase agreements may lead our lenders to require us to

pledge additional assets as collateraL If our assets are insufficient to meet the collateral requirements then we

may be compelled to liquidate particular assets at an inopportune time

majority of our borrowings are and will be secured by our agency securities generally under repurchase

agreements The amount borrowed under repurchase agreement is based on the market value of the
agency

securities pledged to secure the borrowings Our repurchase agreements allow our lenders to revise the market value

of the agency securities pledged as collateral from time to time to reflect thencurrent market conditions Possible

market developments including sharp rise in interest rates change in prepayment rates or increasing market

concern about the value or liquidity of one or more types of securities in which our portfolio is concentrated may
cause decline in the market value of the agency securities used to secure these debt obligations which could limit

our ability to borrow or result in lenders requiring us to pledge additional collateral to secure our borrowings or

repay portion of the outstanding borrowings on minimal notice In that situation we could be required to sell

agency securities under adverse market conditions in order to obtain the additional collateral required by the lender

or to pay down our borrowings If these sales are made at prices lower than the carrying value of the agency

securities we would experience losses thus adversely affecting our operating results and net profitability In recent

months number of companies owning mortgage securities have been required by lenders to pledge additional

collateral as the market value of their mortgage securities declined In the ordinary course of our business we

experience margin calls which require us to pledge additional collateral or pay down our borrowings See

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital

Resources

Further financial institutions may require us to maintain certain amount of cash that is not invested or to set

aside non-leveraged assets sufficient to maintain specified liquidity position which would allow us to satisfy our

collateral obligations As result we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would choose which

could reduce our return on equity In the event that we are unable to meet these collateral obligations then as

described above our financial condition could deteriorate rapidly
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Failure to procure adequate debt financing or to renew or replace existing debt financing as it matures would

adversely affect our results and may in turn negatively affect the value of our common stock and our ability to

distribute dividends

We use debt financing as strategy to increase our return on investments However we may not be able to

achieve our desired debt-to-equity ratio for number of reasons including the following

our lenders do not make debt financing available to us at acceptable rates or

our lenders require that we pledge additional collateral to cover our borrowings which we may be

unable to do

The dislocations in the residential mortgage market and credit markets have led lenders including the financial

institutions that provide financing for our investments to heighten their credit review standards and in some cases

to reduce or eliminate loan amounts available to borrowers As result we cannot assure you that any or sufficient

debt funding will be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable to us In the event that we cannot

obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms there may be negative impact on the value of our common stock and

our ability to make distributions and you may lose part or all of your investment

Furthermore because we rely primarily on short-term borrowings our ability to achieve our investment

objective depends not only on our ability to borrow money in sufficient amounts and on favorable terms but also on

our ability to renew or replace on continuous basis our maturing short-term borrowings As of December 31

2011 majority of our borrowings bore maturities of 30 days or less If we are not able to renew or replace

maturing borrowings we will have to sell some or all of our assets possibly under adverse market conditions

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations

When we obtain financing lenders could impose restrictions on us that would affect our ability to incur

additional debt our capability to make distributions to shareholders and our flexibility to determine our operating

policies Loan documents we execute may contain negative covenants that limit among other things our ability to

repurchase stock distribute more than certain amount of our funds from operations and employ leverage beyond

certain amounts

We may incur increased borrowing costs related to repurchase agreements and that would adversely affect our

profitability

Substantially all of our borrowings are expected to be collateralized borrowings in the form of repurchase

agreements Our borrowing costs under our repurchase agreements generally correspond to short-term interest rates

such as LIBOR or short-term Treasury index plus or minus margin The margins on these borrowings over or

under short-term interest rates may vary depending upon

the movement of interest rates

the availability of financing in the market and

the credit quality value and liquidity of our agency securities

As of December 31 2011 the weighted average margin requirement under all our repurchase agreements was

approximately 4.4% weighted by borrowing amount

If the interest rates on these repurchase agreements increase at rate higher than the increase in rates payable on

our investments our profitability would be adversely affected
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If the counserparties to our repurchase transactions default on their obligations to resell the underlying security

back to us at the end of the transaction term or if the value of the underlying security has declined as of the end

of that term or if we default on our obligations under the repurchase agreement we will lose money on our

repurchase transactions

When we engage in repurchase transaction we generally sell securities to the transaction counterparty and

receive cash from the counterparty The counterparty is obligated to resell the securities back to us at the end of the

term of the transaction which is typically from 30 days to less than one year but which may have terms in excess of

one year The cash we receive from the counterparty when we initially sell the securities to the counterparty is less

than the value of those securities which is referred to as the haircut If the counterparty defaults on its obligation to

resell the securities back to us we would incur loss on the transaction equal to the amount of the haircut assuming

there was no change in the value of the securities See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this report for further discussion regarding risks related to

exposure to European financial institution counterparties in light of recent market conditions We would also lose

money on repurchase transaction if the value of the underlying securities has declined as of the end of the

transaction term as we would have to repurchase the securities for their initial value but would receive securities

worth less than that amount Any losses we incur on our repurchase transactions could adversely affect our

earnings and thus our cash available for distribution to our shareholders

If we default on one of our obligations under repurchase transaction the counterparty can terminate the

transaction and cease entering into any other repurchase transactions with us In that case we would likely need to

establish replacement repurchase facility with another repurchase dealer in order to continue to leverage our

portfolio and carry out our investment strategy There is no assurance we would be able to establish suitable

replacement facility on acceptable terms or at all

Our use of repurchase agreements to borrow funds may give our lenders greater rights in the event that either we

or lender file for bankruptcy

Our borrowings under repurchase agreements may qualify for special treatment under the bankruptcy code

giving our lenders the ability to avoid the automatic stay provisions of the bankruptcy code and to take possession of

and liquidate our collateral under the repurchase agreements without delay in the event that we file for bankruptcy

Furthermore the special treatment of repurchase agreements under the bankruptcy code may make it difficult for us

to recover our pledged assets in the event that lender files for bankruptcy Thus our use of repurchase agreements

will expose our pledged assets to risk in the event of bankruptcy filing by either lender or us

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

Failure to maintain an exemption from the Investment Company Act would adversely affect our results of

operations

We believe that we conduct our business in manner that allows us to avoid being regulated as an investment

company under the Investment Company Act Under Section 3c5C the Investment Company Act exempts

entities that are primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens

on and interests in real estate The staff of the SEC has provided guidance on the availability of this exemption

Specifically the staffs position generally requires us to maintain at least 55% of our assets directly in qualifying

real estate interests and 80% in real estate-related investments including our qualifying real estate interests We

refer to this exemption as the Mortgage Exemption In order to constitute qualifying real estate interest under the

55% requirement real estate interest must meet various criteria Mortgage securities that do not represent all of the

certificates issued with respect to an underlying pool of mortgages may be treated as securities separate from the

underlying mortgage loans and thus may not qualify for purposes of the 55% requirement Our ownership of these

mortgage securities therefore is limited by the provisions of the Investment Company Act Accordingly we intend

to maintain at least 55% of our assets in whole poois of mortgages issued by Ginnie Mae Fannie Mae or Freddie

Mac However competition for investments may prevent us from acquiring mortgage securities that meet the 55%

requirement at favorable yields or from acquiring sufficient qualifying securities to comply with the Mortgage

Exemption under the Investment Company Act
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In addition on August 31 2011 the SEC issued concept release No IC-29778 File No SW7-34-ll

Companies Engaged in the Business of Acquiring Mortgages and Mortgage-Related Instruments pursuant to which

it is reviewing whether certain companies that invest in mortgage-backed securities and rely on the exemption from

registration under Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act such as us should continue to be allowed to

rely on such exemption from registration If we fail to continue to qualify for this exemption from registration as an

investment company or the SEC determines that companies that invest in mortgage-backed securities are no longer

able to rely on this exemption our ability to use leverage would be substantially reduced and we would be unable to

conduct our business as planned or we may be required to register as an investment company under the Investment

Company Act either of which could negatively affect the value of shares of our common stock and our ability to

make distributions to our shareholders

We are subject to financial reporting and other requirements for which our accounting internal audit and other

management systems and resources may not be adequately prepared

We are subject to reporting and other obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

including the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404 requires annual management

assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and report by our independent

registered public accounting firm addressing these assessments as of December 31 2011 These reporting and other

obligations such as our status as large accelerated filer place significant demands on our management

administrative operational internal audit and accounting resources and cause us to incur significant expenses We

may need to upgrade our systems or create new systems implement additional financial and management controls

reporting systems and procedures expand or outsource our internal audit function and hire additional accounting

internal audit and finance staff If we are unable to accomplish these objectives in timely and effective fashion

our ability to comply with the financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to reporting companies

could be impaired Any failure to maintain effective internal controls could have material adverse effect on our

business operating results and stock price

Our policies are determined by our board of directors and our shareholders have limited rights

Our board of directors is responsible for our strategic business direction Our major policies including our

policies with respect to acquisitions leasing financing growth operations debt limitation and distributions are

determined by our board of directors Our board of directors may amend or revise these and other policies from

time to time without vote of our shareholders Our boards broad discretion in setting policies and shareholders

inability to exert control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks you face as shareholder

Our board of directors may approve the issuance of capital stock with terms that may discourage third party

from acquiring us and may increase or decrease our authorized capital stock without shareholder approvaL

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock issuable in one or more classes or

series We may issue class of preferred stock to individual investors in order to comply with the various REIT

requirements Our charter further permits our board of directors to amend our charter to increase or decrease the

aggregate number of shares of our authorized stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series without

shareholder approval Our board of directors may also classify or reclassify any unissued shares of preferred or

common stock and establish the preferences and rights including the right to vote participate in earnings and to

convert into shares of our common stock of any such shares of stock which rights may be superior to those of

shares of our common stock Thus our board of directors could authorize the issuance of shares of preferred or

common stock with terms and conditions that could have the effect of discouraging takeover or other transaction in

which holders of some or majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock might receive premium for

their shares over the then current market price of our common stock Furthermore to the extent we issue additional

equity interests your percentage ownership interest in us will be diluted In addition depending on the terms and

pricing of any additional offerings you may also experience dilution in the book value and fair value of your shares

Our ownership limitations may restrict business combination opportunities

To qualify as REIT under the Code no more than 50% of the value of our outstanding shares of capital stock

may be owned directly or under applicable attribution rules by five or fewer individuals as defined by the Code to
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include certain entities during the last half of each taxable year other than our first REIT taxable year To

preserve our REIT qualification our charter generally prohibits direct or indirect ownership by any person of either

more than the aggregate stock ownership limit or more than the common stock ownership limit Generally

shares owned by affiliated owners will be aggregated for purposes of the ownership limits Any transfer of shares of

our common stock that would violate the ownership limits will result in the shares of common stock that would

otherwise be held in violation of the ownership limits being designated as shares-in-trust and transferred

automatically to trust effective on the day before the purported transfer or other event giving rise to such excess

ownership The intended transferee will acquire no rights in such shares The beneficiary of the trust will be one or

more charitable organizations named by us The ownership limits could have the effect of delaying deferring or

preventing change in control or other transaction in which holders of shares of common stock might receive

premium for their shares of common stock over the then current market price or that such holders might believe to

be otherwise in their best interests The ownership limit provisions also may make our shares of common stock an

unsuitable investment vehicle for any person seeking to obtain either alone or with others as group ownership of

either more than 9.8% of the number or value of our outstanding shares of common stock or more than 9.8%

of the number or value of our outstanding shares of all classes

Provisions of Maryland law and other provisions of our organizational documents may limit the ability of third

party to acquire control of our company

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law MGCL may have the effect of delaying

deferring or preventing transaction or change in control of our company that might involve premium price for

holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interests including

business combination provisions that subject to limitations prohibit certain business combinations

between us and an interested stockholder defined generally as any person who beneficially owns

10% or more of the voting power of our shares or an affiliate thereof for five years after the most

recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested stockholder and thereafter impose special

shareholder voting requirements on these combinations and

control share provisions that provide that control shares of our company defined as shares which

when aggregated with other shares controlled by the acquiring shareholder entitle the shareholder to

exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing directors acquired in control

share acquisition defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of control

shares have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our shareholders by the affirmative

vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter excluding all interested

shares

Our bylaws provide that we are not subject to the control share provisions of the MGCL However our board

of directors may elect to make the control share statute applicable to us at any time and may do so without

shareholder approval

Title Subtitle of the MGCL permits our board of directors without shareholder approval and regardless of

what is currently provided in our charter or bylaws to elect on behalf of our company to be subject to statutory

provisions that may have the effect of delaying deferring or preventing transaction or change in control of our

company that might involve premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest

Pursuant to Title Subtitle of the MGCL our charter provides that our board of directors will have the exclusive

power to fill vacancies on our board As result unless all of the directorships are vacant our shareholders will not

be able to fill vacancies with nominees of their own choosing Our board of directors may elect to opt in to

additional provisions of Title Subtitle of the MGCL without shareholder approval at any time

Additionally our charter and bylaws contain other provisions that may delay or prevent change of control of

our company For example our charter and bylaws provide that the number of directors constituting our full board

may be fixed only by our directors that our bylaws may only be amended by our directors and that special meeting

of shareholders may not be called by holders of our common stock holding less than majority of our outstanding

shares entitled to vote at such meeting
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Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited which

could limit your recourse in the event of actions not in shareholders best interests

Our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers for money damages except for liability resulting

from actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money property or services or final judgment based upon

finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to the cause of action

adjudicated

Our charter also authorizes us to indemnify our directors and officers for actions taken by them in those

capacities to the extent permitted by Maryland law and our bylaws obligate us to the maximum extent permitted by

Maryland law to indemnify any present or former director or officer of our company from and against any
claim or

liability to which he or she may become subject by reason of his or her service in that capacity In addition we may
be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers Finally we have entered into

agreements with our directors and officers pursuant to which we have agreed to indemnify them to the maximum

extent permitted by Maryland law

Future offerings of debt securities which would rank senior to our common stock upon liquidation and future

offerings of equity securities which would dilute our existing shareholders and may be senior to our common

stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions may adversely affrct the market price of our

common stock

In the future we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt or additional

offerings of equity securities including commercial paper senior or subordinated notes and series of preferred stock

or common stock Upon liquidation holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock if any and lenders

with respect to other borrowings will receive distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our

common stock Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders or reduce the

market price of our common stock or both Preferred stock if issued could have preference on liquidating

distributions or preference on dividend payments or both that could limit our ability to make dividend

distribution to the holders of our common stock Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will

depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control we cannot predict or estimate the amount timing

or nature of our future offerings Thus holders of our common stock bear the risk of our future offerings reducing

the market price of our common stock and diluting their stock holdings in us

We have not established minimum dividend payment level and there are no assurances of our ability to pay

dividends in the future

We intend to pay quarterly dividends and to make distributions to our shareholders in amounts such that all or

substantially all of our taxable income in each year subject to certain adjustments is distributed This along with

other factors should enable us to qualify for the tax benefits accorded to REIT under the Code However we have

not established minimum dividend payment level and our ability to pay dividends may be adversely affected by

the risk factors described in this report All distributions will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and

will depend on our earnings our financial condition maintenance of our REIT status and such other factors as our

board of directors may deem relevant from time to time There are no assurances of our ability to pay dividends in

the future In addition some of our distributions may include return of capital

Broad marketfluctuations could negatively impact the market price of our stock

We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in

the future Some of the factors that could affect our stock price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading

volume of our common stock include

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results

changes in our operations or earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the

industry
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increases in market interest rates may lead purchasers of our common stock to demand higher yield

changes in market valuations of similar companies

adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future

additions or departures of key management personnel

actions by institutional shareholders

speculation in the
press or investment community and

general market and economic conditions

In addition the stock market has experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices

of many companies in industries similar or related to ours and may have been unrelated to operating performances

of these companies These broad market fluctuations could reduce the market price of our common stock

Future issuances or sales of shares could cause our share price to decline

Sales of substantial numbers of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that such

sales might occur could adversely affect the market price of our common stock In addition the sale of these shares

could impair our ability to raise capital through sale of additional equity securities

Other issuances of our common stock could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock

In addition future issuances of our common stock may be dilutive to existing shareholders

Federal Income Tax Risks

If we do not qualijj as REIT we will be subject to tax as regular corporation and face substantial tax liability

We expect to continue to operate so as to qualify as REIT under the Code However qualification as REIT

involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions for which only limited number of

judicial or administrative interpretations exist Even technical or inadvertent mistake could jeopardize our REIT

status Furthermore new tax legislation administrative guidance or court decisions in each instance potentially

with retroactive effect could make it more difficult or impossible for us to qualify as REIT If we fail to qualify as

REIT in any tax year then we would be taxed as regular domestic corporation which among other things

means being unable to deduct distributions to shareholders in computing taxable income and being subject to federal

income tax including any applicable alternative minimum tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates

Any resulting tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to

shareholders which could in turn have an adverse impact on the value of our stock Furthermore unless we were

entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions we would be disqualified from treatment as REIT for the

subsequent four taxable years following the year during which we lost our qualification and thus our cash available

for distribution to shareholders would be reduced for each of the years during which we did not qualify as REIT

Even if we remain qualified as REIT we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as REIT we may be subject to certain federal state and local taxes

on our income and assets Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our shareholders

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities

In order to maintain our qualification as REIT for federal income tax purposes we must continually satisfy

tests concerning among other things the sources of our income the nature and diversification of our assets the

amounts we distribute to our shareholders and the ownership of our stock We may be required to make
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distributions to shareholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for

distribution Thus compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of

maximizing profits

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations Under these

provisions any income that we generate from transactions intended to hedge our interest rate inflation and/or

currency risks will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests if the

instrument hedges interest rate risk on liabilities incurred to carry or acquire real estate assets or risk of

currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the REIT

75% or 95% gross income tests and such instrument is properly identified under applicable regulations of the U.S

Treasury Income from hedging transactions entered into prior to July 31 2008 that hedge interest rate risk on

liabilities incurred to carry or acquire real estate assets will be excluded from gross income for purposes
of the REIT

95% gross income test but will not be qualifying income for purposes of the REIT 75% gross income test Income

from hedging transactions that do not meet these requirements will generally constitute nonqualifying income for

purposes of both the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests As result of these rules we may have to limit our use

of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous which could result in greater risks associated with

interest rate or other changes than we would otherwise incur

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments

In order to maintain our qualification as REIT we must also ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at

least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash cash items government securities and qualified REIT real

estate assets The remainder of our investment in securities other than government securities and qualified real

estate assets generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more

than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer In addition in general no more than 5%

of the value of our assets other than government securities and qualified real estate assets can consist of the

securities of any one issuer and no more than 20% or beginning with our 2009 taxable year 25% of the value of

our total securities can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries If we fail to comply

with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end

of the calendar quarter in order to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences As result

we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to borrow to make distributions to shareholders or otherwise

depend on external sources of capital to fund such distributions

As REIT we must distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income subject to certain adjustments to our

shareholders To the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our taxable

income we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income In addition we will

be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders in calendar

year is less than minimum amount specified under federal tax laws While we generally intend to make

distributions so that no income or excise taxes are due we may from time to time consistent with maintaining our

REIT qualification elect to pay taxes in lieu of making current distributions if we decide that strategy is more

favorable to our shareholders

From time to time we may generate taxable income greater than our net income for financial reporting purposes

due to among other things amortization of capitalized purchase premiums or our taxable income may be greater

than our cash flow available for distribution to shareholders If we do not have other funds available in these

situations we could be required to borrow funds sell portion of our agency securities at disadvantageous prices or

find another alternative source of funds in order to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of

our taxable income to satisfy the distribution requirement and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax

in particular year These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity

Because of the distribution requirement it is unlikely that we will be able to fund all future capital needs

including capital needs in connection with investments from cash retained from operations As result to fund
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future capital needs we likely will have to rely on third-party sources of capital including both debt and equity

financing which may or may not be available on favorable terms or at all Our access to third-party sources of

capital will depend upon number of factors including the markets perception of our growth potential and our

current and potential future earnings and cash distributions and the market price of our stock

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We do not own any properties Our executive and administrative office is located at 110 Oakwood Drive Suite

340 Winston-Salem NC 27103 and we have one satellite office in Columbia Maryland As part of our

management agreement our manager is responsible for providing the office space required in rendering services to

us and accordingly rent responsibilities belong to our manager

Item Legal Proceedings

We and our manager are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Information about our equity compensation plans and other related shareholder matters is incorporated by

reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Shareholders Meeting

Market Information

Our conmon stock has been listed on the NYSE under the symbol HTS since April 30 2008 The following

table presents the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported by the NYSE for the periods

indicated

thh

Quarter ended March 31 2010 28.32 23.81

Quarter ended June 30 2010 30.03 11.25

Quarter ended September 30 2010 30.86 26.73

Quarter ended December 31 2010 31.98 28.28

Quarter ended March 31 2011 30.99 27.88

Quarter ended June 30 2011 29.39 27.12

Quarter ended September 30 2011 29.26 23.80

Quarter ended December 31 2011 27.31 22.33

The per-share closing price for our common stock as reported by the NYSE on February 17 2012 was $28.44
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Holders of Our Common Stock

As of February 21 2012 there were approximately 18 record holders of our common stock including shares

held in street name by nominees who are record holders but excluding employees that received stock awards

under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan

Dividends

We intend to continue to pay quarterly dividends to holders of shares of common stock Future dividends will

be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our earnings and financial condition maintenance

of our REIT qualification restrictions on making distributions under Maryland law and such other factors as our

board of directors deems relevant For 2011 we paid $3.90 per share of common stock in dividends Of the $3.90

97.6003% represented ordinary income 2.3997% represented long-term capital gain and 0.0% represented return of

capital for tax purposes
For 2010 we paid $4.40 per share of common stock in dividends Of the $4.40 96.2724%

represented ordinary income 3.7276% represented long-term capital gain and 0.0% represented return of capital

for tax purposes The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the dividends declared per share of

common stock

Common Dividends Declared Per Share

Quarter ended March 31 2010 $1.20

Quarter ended June 30 2010 $1.10

Quarter ended September 30 2010 $1.10

Quarter ended December 31 2010 $1.00

Quarter ended March31 2011 $1.00

Quarter ended June 30 2011 $1.00

Quarter ended September 30 2011 $1.00

Quarter ended December 31 2011 $0.90
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Performance Graph

The following graph provides comparison of the cumulative total return on our common stock from April 30

2008 to the NYSE closing price per share on December 31 2011 with the cumulative total return on the Standard

Poors 500 Composite Stock Price Index the SP 500 and the FTSE National Association of Real Estate

Investment Trusts Mortgage REIT Index the FTSE NAREIT MREIT Index Total return values were calculated

assuming $100 investment on April 30 2008 with reinvestment of all dividends in the common stock ii the

SP 500 and iii the FTSE NAREIT MREIT Index

Total Return Performance
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The actual returns shown on the graph above are as follows

Period Ending

Index 04/30/08 06/30/08 12/31/08 06/30/09 12/31/09 06/30/10 12/31/10 06/30/11 12/31/11

Hatteras Financial Corp 100.00 93.81 118.56 133.02 146.33 158.47 184.95 184.78 185.46

SP 500 100.00 92.76 66.34 68.44 83.90 78.32 96.54 102.35 98.58

NAREITM0rtgageREIT 100.00 87.28 79.86 83.65 99.53 103.31 122.01 127.06 119.07
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1.06% 1.48% 1.73% 2.96%

1.78% 2.26% 2.91% 2.10%

14.97% 16.63% 19.91% 16.98%

24.54% 36.27% 19.79% 10.04%

7.81 7.61 6.81 6.11

8.51 8.31 8.21 5.91

$17741873 $9587216 $6992771 $5107074

18586719 10006979 7416402 5460326

16162375 8681060 6046518 4119435

300000 400000

2080188 1145484 931713 736287

Average numbers for each period are weighted based on days on our books and records All percentages are annualized

Our daily average investment in agency mortgage-backed securities MBS was calculated by dividing the sum of our daily agency

MBS investments during the period by the number of days in the period

Our daily average balance outstanding under our repurchase agreements was calculated by dividing the sum of our daily outstanding

balances under our repurchase agreements during the period by the number of days in the period

Our daily average shareholders equity was calculated by dividing the sum of our daily shareholders equity during the period by the

number of days in the period

Our average portfolio yield was calculated by dividing our interest income on mortgage-backed securities net of amortization by our

average agency MBS
Our average cost of funds was calculated by dividing our total interest expense including hedges by our average balance outstanding

under our repurchase agreements

Our interest rate spread was calculated by subtracting our average cost of funds from our average portfolio yield

Our return on average equity was calculated by dividing net income by average equity

Our average annual principal repayment rate was calculated by dividing our total principal payments received during the year

scheduled and unscheduled by our average MBS
Our debt to equity ratio was calculated by dividing the amount outstanding under our repurchase agreements at period end by total

shareholders equity at period end
Is Our debt to additional paid in capital ratio was calculated by dividing the amount outstanding under our repurchase agreements at

period end by additional paid in capital at period end

Item Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected historical operating and financial data The selected historical

operating and financial data for the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and 2008 have been derived

from our historical financial statements

The information presented below is only summary and does not provide all of the information contained in

our historical financial statements including the related notes You should read the information below in

conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and

our historical financial statements including the related notes

in thousands except per share amounts

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 2011 December 31 2010 December 31 2009 December 31 2008

$196322

2050

93891

$424713

1407

144662
281458

$263751

1265

95923
169093

$282344

771

96267
186848

Statement of Income Data

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities

Interest income on short-term cash investments

Interest Expense

Net Interest Income

Operating Expenses

Net gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities

Provision for Claim Receivable

Net Income

Earnings per share common stock basic

Earnings per
share common stock diluted

Weighted average
shares outstanding

Distributions
per common share

Key Portfolio Statistics

Average MRS

Average Repurchase Agreements

Average Equity

Average Portfolio Yield

Average Cost of Funds

Interest Rate Spread

Return on Average Equity

Average Annual Portfolio Repayment Rate

Debt to Equity at period end
Debt to Additional Paid in Capital at period end

10

Selected Balance Sheet Data

Mortgage-backed securities

Total Assets

Repurchase Agreements

Long Term Repurchase Agreements

Stockholders Equity

29



Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with

our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report

Overview

We are an externally-managed mortgage REIT incorporated in Maryland in September 2007 to invest in single-

family residential mortgage pass-through securities guaranteed or issued by U.S Government agency such as

Ginnie Mae or by U.S Government-sponsored entity such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Our principal goal

is to generate net income for distribution to our shareholders through regular quarterly dividends and protect and

grow our shareholders equity which we also refer to as our book value through prudent interest rate risk

management Our net income is determined primarily by the difference between the interest income we earn on our

agency securities net of premium or discount amortization and the cost of our borrowings and hedging activities

which we also refer to as our net interest spread or net interest margin We utilize substantial borrowings in

financing our investment portfolio which can enhance potential returns but exacerbate losses In general our book

value is most affected by our issuance of shares of our common stock our retained earnings or losses and changes

in the value of our investment portfolio and our hedging instruments

In order to grow our company we may from time to time raise additional capital using various market based

transactions Accordingly all of our financial results and data should be viewed with the knowledge that our equity

raises have been significant for our company and that some period to period comparisons may not be meaningful or

may produce comparisons that may be misleading to future activity and results

The following table represents key data regarding our company since the quarter ending March 31 2009

in thousands except per share amounts Quarterly Weighted

Repurchase Shares Book Value Average Earnings

As of Agency Securities Agreements j3 Outstanding Per Share Per Share

December 31 2011 $18146767 $16162375 $2080188 76823 $27.08 $0.92

September 30 2011 $19014997 $15886231 $2015003 76547 $26.32 $1.04

June 30 2011 $16678511 $14800594 $2006606 75092 $26.72 $1.04

March3l2011 $14811137 $11495749 $1894540 72572 $26.11 $0.96

December 312010 $10418764 $8681060 $1145484 46116 $24.84 $0.99

September 30 2010 $9581916 $6678426 $1190313 46085 $25.83 $1.12

June 30 2010 $7651266 $5982998 $965619 37388 $25.83 $1.01

March 31 2010 $7125065 $6102661 $929433 36472 $25.48 $1.21

December 31 2009 $7038987 $6346518 $931713 36200 $25.74 $1.28

September30 2009 $7303441 $6007909 $943597 36200 $26.07 $1.26

June 30 2009 $6699512 $5496854 $865204 36200 $23.90 $1.20

March 31 2009 $6329731 $5250382 $803575 36192 $22.20 $1.07

Includes unsettled purchases and forward commitments to purchase agency MBS

Factors that Affect our Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Our results of operations and financial condition are affected by various factors many of which are beyond our

control including among other things our net interest income the market value of our assets and the supply of and

demand for such assets We invest in financial assets and markets and recent events such as discussed below can

affect our business in ways that are difficult to predict and produce results outside of typical operating variances

Our net interest income varies primarily as result of changes in interest rates borrowing costs and prepayment

speeds the behavior of which involves various risks and uncertainties Prepayment rates as reflected by the rate of
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principal paydown and interest rates vary according to the type of investment conditions in financial markets

government actions competition and other factors none of which can be predicted with any certainty In general as

prepayment rates on our agency
securities purchased at premium increase related purchase premium amortization

increases thereby reducing the net yield on such assets Because changes in interest rates may significantly affect

our activities our operating results depend in large part upon our ability to manage interest rate risks and

prepayment risks effectively while maintaining our status as REIT

We anticipate that for any period during which changes in the interest rates earned on our assets do not

coincide with interest rate changes on our borrowings such assets will reprice more slowly than the corresponding

liabilities Consequently changes in interest rates particularly short-term interest rates may significantly influence

our net interest income With the maturities of our assets generally of longer term than those of our liabilities

interest rate increases will tend to decrease our net interest income and the market value of our assets and therefore

our book value Such rate increases could possibly result in operating losses or adversely affect our ability to make

distributions to our shareholders

Prepayments on agency securities and the underlying mortgage loans may be influenced by changes in market

interest rates and variety of economic geographic and other factors beyond our control and consequently such

prepayment rates cannot be predicted with certainty To the extent we have acquired agency securities at premium

or discount to par or face value changes in prepayment rates may impact our anticipated yield In periods of

declining interest rates prepayments on our agency securities will likely increase If we are unable to reinvest the

proceeds of such prepayments at comparable yields our net interest income may suffer The current climate of

government intervention in the mortgage markets significantly increases the risk associated with prepayments

While we intend to use hedging to mitigate some of our interest rate risk we do not intend to hedge all of our

exposure to changes in interest rates and prepayment rates as there are practical limitations on our ability to insulate

our portfolio from all potential negative consequences associated with changes in short-term interest rates in

manner that will allow us to seek attractive net spreads on our portfolio

In addition variety of other factors relating to our business may also impact our financial condition and

operating performance These factors include

our degree of leverage

our access to funding and borrowing capacity

our borrowing costs

our hedging activities

the market value of our agency securities and

the REIT requirements the requirements to qualify for an exemption under the Investment Company

Act and other regulatory and accounting policies related to our business

Our manager is entitled to receive management fee that is based on our equity as defined in our management

agreement regardless of the performance of our portfolio Accordingly the payment of our management fee may

not decline in the event of decline in our profitability and may cause us to incur losses

For discussion of additional risks relating to our business see Item Risk Factors
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Market and Interest Rate Trends and the Effect on our Portfolio

Credit Market Disruption

Since 2007 the residential housing and mortgage markets in the United States have experienced variety of

difficulties and changed economic conditions including loan defaults credit losses and decreased liquidity These

conditions have resulted in volatility in the value of residential MBS including agency securities Recently the

financial weakness of the European Union sovereign nations particularly the de facto default of Greece has

renewed concerns of the stability of financial systems worldwide Further increased volatility and deterioration in

the broader residential mortgage and residential MBS markets may adversely affect the performance and market

value of the agency securities in which we invest In addition we rely on the availability of financing to acquire

agency securities on leveraged basis If market conditions deteriorate further our lenders may exit the repurchase

market further tighten lending standards or increase the amount of equity capital or haircut required to obtain

financing any of which could make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain financing

Developments at Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

Payments on the agency securities in which we invest are guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Because

of the guarantee and the underwriting standards associated with mortgages underlying agency securities agency

securities historically have had high stability in value and have been considered to present low credit risk In 2008

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed under the conservatorship of the U.S government due to the significant

weakness of their financial condition The turmoil in the residential mortgage sector and concern over the future

role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac at the time generally increased credit spreads and decreased price stability of

agency securities In response to the credit market disruption and the deteriorating financial condition of Fannie Mae

and Freddie Mac Congress and the U.S Department of the Treasury the U.S Treasury undertook series of

actions in 2008 aimed at stabilizing the financial markets in general and the mortgage market in particular These

actions include the large-scale buying of mortgage-backed securities significant equity infusions into banks and

aggressive monetary policy

In February 2011 the U.S Treasury along with the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development

released report entitled Reforming Americas Housing Finance Market to congress outlining recommendations

for reforming the U.S housing system specifically Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and transforming the

governments involvement in the housing market It is unclear how future legislation may impact the housing

finance market and the investing environment for agency securities as the method of reform is undecided and has

not yet been defined by the regulators Without government support for residential mortgages we may not be able

to execute our current business model in an efficient manner

U.S Treasuiy Market Intervention

One of the main factors impacting market prices has been the U.S Federal Reserve Systems the U.S Federal

Reserve programs to purchase Treasury and agency securities in the open market The most significant of these

programs commenced in January 2009 and was terminated on March 31 2010 In total $1.25 trillion of agency

securities was purchased In November 2010 the U.S Federal Reserve announced another program to purchase an

additional $600 billion of longer-term Treasury securities by the end of the second quarter of 2011 pace of about

$75 billion per month On September 21 2011 the U.S Federal Reserve in program dubbed Operation Twist
announced that they intend to sell $400 billion shorter term U.S Treasury securities by the end of June 2012 and

reinvest the proceeds to purchase longer term U.S Treasury securities with goal of further monetary stimulus

They also announced that they will continue to reinvest principal repayments from
agency

securities back into

agency securities This program is intended to extend the average maturity of the securities in the U.S Federal

Reserves portfolio By reducing the supply of longer term U.S Treasury securities in the market this action should

put downward pressure on longer term interest rates including rates on financial assets that investors consider to be

close substitutes for longer term U.S Treasury securities like certain types of
agency

securities The reduction in

longer term interest rates in turn may contribute to broad easing in financial market conditions that the U.S

Federal Reserve hopes will provide additional stimulus to support the economic recovery
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These programs have had many effects on our assets One effect of these purchases has been an increase in the

prices of
agency securities which has decreased our net interest margin The unpredictability of these programs has

also injected additional volatility into the pricing and availability of our assets It is difficult to quantify the impact

as there are many factors at work at the same time which affects the price of our securities and therefore our yield

and book value Due to the unpredictability in the markets for our securities in particular and yield generating assets

in general there is no pattern that can be implied with any certainty We believe the largest risk is that if the

government decides to sell significant portions of its portfolio then we may see meaningful price declines

U.S Government Credit Rating

The current U.S debt ceiling and budget deficit concerns led to the downgrade by Standard Poors of the

U.S governments credit rating for the first time in history As assets backed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are

considered to have the credit of the U.S government and thus were also downgraded at that time While the other

rating agencies have not downgraded the U.S governments rating if they were to do so it would likely impact the

perceived credit risk associated with agency securities and therefore decrease the value of the agency securities in

our portfolio In addition further downgrades of the U.S governments credit rating or the credit ratings of certain

European countries would likely create broader financial turmoil and uncertainty which could have serious

negative impact on the global banking system This could have an adverse impact on our business financial

condition and results of operations

Regulatoiy Concerns

We believe that we conduct our business in manner that allows us to avoid being regulated as an investment

company under the Investment Company Act pursuant to the exemption provided by Section 3c5C for entities

that are primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and

interests in real estate On August 31 2011 the SEC issued concept release No IC-29778 File No SW7-34-1

Companies Engaged in the Business of Acquiring Mortgages and Mortgage-Related Instruments pursuant to which

it is reviewing whether certain companies that invest in MBS and rely on the exemption from registration under

Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act such as us should continue to be allowed to rely on such

exemption from registration If we fail to continue to qualify for this exemption from registration as an investment

company or the SEC determines that companies that invest in MBS are no longer able to rely on this exemption our

ability to use leverage would be substantially reduced and we would be unable to conduct our business as planned

or we may be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act either of which

could negatively affect the value of shares of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to our

shareholders

Certain programs initiated by the U.S Government through the Federal Housing Administration and the

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC to provide homeowners with assistance in avoiding residential

mortgage loan foreclosures are currently in effect The programs may involve among other things the modification

of mortgage loans to reduce the principal amount of the loans or the rate of interest payable on the loans or to

extend the payment terms of the loans While the effect of these programs has not been as extensive as originally

expected the effect of such programs for holders of agency securities could be that such holders would experience

changes in the anticipated yields of their agency securities due to increased prepayment rates and ii lower

interest and principal payments

On July 21 2010 President Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Act into law The Dodd-Frank Act is extensive

complicated and comprehensive legislation that impacts practically all aspects of banking and significant overhaul

of many aspects of the regulation of the financial services industry Although many provisions remain subject to

further rulemaking the Dodd-Frank Act implements numerous and far-reaching changes that affect financial

companies including our company and other banks and institutions which are important to our business model

Certain notable rules are among other things

Requiring regulation and oversight of large systemically important financial institutions by establishing an

interagency council on systemic risk and implementation of heightened prudential standards and regulation

by the Board of Governors of the U.S Federal Reserve for systemically important financial institutions
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including nonbank financial companies as well as the implementation of the FDIC resolution procedures

for liquidation of large financial companies to avoid market disruption

applying the same leverage and risk-based capital requirements that apply to insured depository institutions

to most bank holding companies savings and loan holding companies and systemically important nonbank

financial companies

limiting the U.S Federal Reserves emergency authority to lend to nondepository institutions to facilities

with broad-based eligibility and authorizing the FDIC to establish an emergency financial stabilization

fund for solvent depository institutions and their holding companies subject to the approval of Congress

the Secretary of the U.S Treasury and the U.S Federal Reserve

creating regimes for regulation of over-the-counter derivatives and non-admitted property and casualty

insurers and reinsurers

implementing regulation of hedge fund and private equity advisers by requiring such advisers to register

with the SEC

providing for the implementation of corporate governance provisions for all public companies concerning

proxy access and executive compensation and

reforming regulation of credit rating agencies

Many of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act including certain provisions described above are subject to

further study rulemaking and the discretion of regulatory bodies As the hundreds of regulations called for by the

Dodd-Frank Act are promulgated we will continue to evaluate the impact of any such regulations It is unclear how

this legislation may impact the borrowing environment investing environment for agency securities and interest rate

swaps as much of the bills implementation has not yet been defined by the regulators

In addition in 2010 the Group of Governors and Heads of Supervisors of the Base Committee on Banking

Supervision the oversight body of the Basel Committee published its calibrated capital standards for major

banking institutions Basel III Under these standards when fully phased in on January 2019 banking

institutions will be required to maintain heightened Tier common equity Tier capital and total capital ratios as

well as maintaining capital conservation buffer Beginning with the Tier common equity and Tier capital

ratio requirements Basel III will be phased in incrementally between January 2013 and January 2019 The

final package of Basel III reforms were approved by the G20 leaders in November 2010 and are subject to individual

adoption by member nations including the United States by January 2013 It is unclear how the adoption of

Base III will affect our business at this time

In September 2011 the White House announced they are working on major plan to allow certain homeowners

who owe more on their mortgages than their homes are worth to refinance In October 2011 the FHFA announced

changes to HARP to expand access to refinancing for qualified individuals and families whose homes have lost

value including increasing the HARP loan-to-value ratio above 125% However this would only apply to

mortgages guaranteed by the U.S government-sponsored entities In addition the expansion does not change the

time period which these loans were originated maintaining the requirement that the loans must have been

guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac prior to June 2009 There are many challenging issues to this proposal

notably the question as to whether loan with loan-to-value ratio of 125% qualifies as mortgage or an unsecured

consumer loan The chances of this initiatives success have created additional uncertainty in the agency securities

market particularly with respect to possible increases in prepayment rates We do not expect this announcement to

have significant impact on our results of operations

On January 2012 the U.S Federal Reserve released report titled The U.S Housing Market Current

Conditions and Policy Considerations to Congress providing framework for thinking about certain issues and

tradeoffs that policy makers might consider It is unclear how future legislation may impact the housing finance
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market and the investing environment for agency securities as the method of reform is undecided and has not yet

been defined by the regulators

Exposure to European Financial Counterparties

We currently finance the acquisition of our agency securities with repurchase agreements In connection with

these financing arrangements we pledge our securities as collateral to secure the borrowing The amount of

collateral pledged will typically exceed the amount of the financing with the extent of over-collateralization ranging

from 3%-5% of the amount borrowed While repurchase agreement financing results in us recording liability to the

counterparty in our consolidated balance sheet we are exposed to the counterparty if during the term of the

repurchase agreement financing lender should default on its obligation and we are not able to recover our pledged

assets The amount of this exposure is the difference between the amount loaned to us plus interest due to the

counterparty and the fair value of the collateral pledged by us to the lender including accrued interest receivable on

such collateral

In addition we use interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk exposure in connection with our repurchase

agreement financings We will make cash payments or pledge securities as collateral as part of margin

arrangement in connection with interest rate swaps that are in an unrealized loss position In the event that

counterparty were to default on its obligation we would be exposed to loss to swap counterparty to the extent

that the amount of cash or securities pledged exceeded the unrealized loss on the associated swaps and we were not

able to recover the excess collateral

During the past several years several large European banks have experienced financial difficulty and have been

either rescued by government assistance or by other large European banks Some of these banks have U.S banking

subsidiaries which have provided financing to us particularly repurchase agreement financing for the acquisition of

agency securities At December 31 2011 we had entered into repurchase agreements and/or interest rate swaps
with

eight financial institution counterparties that are either domiciled in Europe or U.S.-based subsidiary of European

domiciled financial institution

At December 31 2011 we did not use credit default swaps or other forms of credit protection to hedge these

exposures although we may in the future

If the European credit crisis continues to impact these major European banks there is the possibility that it will

also impact the operations of their U.S banking subsidiaries This could adversely affect our financing and

operations as well as those of the entire mortgage sector in general Management monitors our exposure to our

repurchase agreement and swap counterparties on regular basis using various methods including review of recent

rating agency actions or other developments and by monitoring the amount of cash and securities collateral pledged

and the associated loan amount under repurchase agreements and/or the fair of swaps with our counterparties We

intend to make reverse margin calls on our counterparties to recover excess collateral as permitted by the agreements

governing our financing arrangements or take other necessary actions to reduce the amount of our exposure to

counterparty when such actions are considered necessary

Interest Rates

Mortgage markets in general and our strategy in particular are interest rate sensitive The relationship between

several interest rates is generally determinant of the performance of our company Our borrowings in the repurchase

market have historically closely tracked LIBOR and Federal Funds Significant volatility in these rates or

divergence from the historical relationship among these rates could negatively impact our ability to manage our

portfolio The MBS we buy are affected by the shape of the yield curve particularly along the area between two

year Treasury rate and 10 year Treasury rates The following table shows the 30-day LIBOR as compared to these

rates at each period end
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30- day Two Year 10 Year

LIBOR Fed Funds Treasury Treasury

December 31 2011 0.30% 0.25% 0.24% 1.88%

September 30 2011 0.24% 0.25% 0.25% 1.92%

June 30 2011 0.19% 0.25% 0.46% 3.16%

March 31 2011 0.24% 0.25% 0.83% 3.47%

December 31 2010 0.26% 0.25% 0.60% 3.30%

September 30 2010 0.26% 0.25% 0.43% 2.5 1%

June 30 2010 0.35% 0.25% 0.61% 2.93%

March 31 2010 0.25% 0.25% 1.02% 3.83%

December 31 2009 0.23% 0.25% 1.14% 3.84%

September 30 2009 0.25% 0.25% 0.95% 3.3 1%

June3O2009 0.31% 0.25% 1.11% 3.53%

March 31 2009 0.50% 0.25% 0.80% 2.66%

Principal Repayment Rate

Our net income is primarily function of the difference between the yield on our assets and the financing cost

of owning those assets Since we tend to purchase assets at premium to par the main item that can affect the yield

on our assets after they are purchased is the rate at which the mortgage borrowers repay the loan While the

scheduled repayments which are the principal portion of the homeowners regular monthly payments are fairly

predictable the unscheduled repayments which are generally refinancing of the mortgage are less so Being able to

accurately estimate and manage these repayment rates is critical portion of the management of our portfolio not

only for estimating current yield but also to consider the rate of reinvestment of those proceeds into new securities

and the yields which those new securities may add to our portfolio The following table shows the average principal

repayment rate for each quarter since our commencement of operations

Average

Quarterly Principal Average Rate

Quarter ended Repayment Rate Annualized

December 31 2011 6.85% 27.39%

September3O2011 7.14% 28.55%

June3O2011 4.64% 18.54%

March3l2011 5.61% 22.44%

December3l2010 7.81% 31.26%

September3O2010 8.48% 33.91%

June 30 2010 11.27% 45.08%

March3l2010 9.01% 36.04%

December 31 2009 5.67% 22.70%

September 30 2009 5.56% 22.26%

June 30 2009 5.23% 20.93%

March 31 2009 3.09% 12.36%
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Investing the Proceeds of our Offerings

We began operations following the closing of our initial private offering on November 2007 The following

is summary of these transactions

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Date of Number of Shares Offering Price Net

Offering of Common Stock Sold Per Share Proceeds

March 18 2011 16675000 $28.50 $468765

January 52011 11500000 $28.75 $325707

September 21 2010 7475000 $28.75 $205642

December 15 2008 9409090 $22.00 $196463

April 30 2008 IPO 11500000 $24.00 $255440

February 52008 6900000 $24.00 $158743

November 52007 8203937 $20.00 $157054

After deducting underwriting costs and other fees and costs associates with issuance

While our operations are affected in many ways by the issuance of additional shares the most significant

immediate earnings impact is that we generally do not invest all of the proceeds immediately Depending on market

conditions and the fact that normal trade settlement on agency securities is not based on the trade date we have

averaged around two months to invest the proceeds from these offerings Since each capital raise was individually

significant to the size of our portfolio our results from operations and some statistics regarding such results may
not be meaningful or portray the underlying fundamentals of our investment portfolio

Book Value per Share

As of December 31 2011 our book value per share of common stock total shareholders equity divided by

shares of common stock outstanding was $27.08 an increase of $2.24 from $24.84 at December 31 2010 The

majority of this increase $2.17 was result of our additional offerings of common stock at prices that were higher

than our book value at the time The changes in the value of our assets and liabilities during this time essentially

netted to zero Although we attempt to structure our interest rate swap portfolio to offset the changes in asset prices

they are not perfectly correlated and depend on the corresponding durations on the yield curve to offset each other

Also there are other factors such as credit perceptions which may affect these values at times in the same direction

The following table shows the components of our book value on per
share basis at each period end

Unrealized Unrealized

Common Undistributed GainlLoss GainlLoss on Book Value

As of Earninas on MBS Interest Rate Swaps Per Share

December 31 2011 $24.79 0.03 5.11 2.85 $27.08

September 30 2011 $24.79 0.01 4.56 3.04 $26.32

June 30 2011 $24.79 0.03 3.47 1.51 $26.72

March3l2011 $24.67 0.06 1.67 0.17 $26.11

December3l2010 $22.62 0.08 3.33 1.03 $24.84

September 30 2010 $22.63 0.07 5.66 2.39 $25.83

June 30 2010 $21.50 0.12 6.36 2.15 $25.83

March 31 2010 $21.32 0.24 5.25 1.33 $25.48

December 31 2009 $21.28 0.24 5.21 0.99 $25.74

September 30 2009 $21.27 0.16 5.96 1.32 $26.07

June 30 2009 $21.26 0.05 3.69 1.10 $23.90

March 31 2009 $21.26 0.05 2.75 1.76 $22.20

Investments

Agency Securities

As of December 31 2011 our agency
securities portfolio was purchased at net premium to par or face value

with weighted-average amortized cost of 102.47% of face value due to the
average

interest rates on these
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securities being higher than prevailing market rates As of December 31 2011 we had approximately $418.1

million of unamortized premium included in the cost basis of our investments

As of December 31 2011 our investment portfolio consisted of agency securities as follows

Weighted Avg

dollars in thousands of Current Weighted Avg Amortized Wetghted Avg

Months to Reset Portfolio Face value Coupon Purchase Price Amortized Cost Market Price Market Value

0-18 8.1% $1355919 4.75% $101.30 81373606 $106.43 $1443135

19-36 5.7% 956912 3.95% $102.02 976239 $105.57 $1010209

37-60 45.7% 7749135 3.33% $102.44 7938089 $104.64 $8108775

61-84 34.0% 5775967 3.32% $102.69 5931052 $104.51 $6036655

85-120 0.9% 147644 3.96% $103.53 152050 $105.09 $155160

21-180 5.6% 953133 3.05% $103.34 984936 $103.65 $987939

Totat MBS 100.0% $16938710 3.46% $102.47 $17356772 $104.74 $17741873

The current face is the current monthly remaining dollar amount of principal of mortgage security We compute current face by multiplying

the
original

face value of the security by the current principal balance factor The current principal
balance factor is essentially fraction where

the numerator is the current outstanding balance and the denominator is the original principal
balance

For pass-through certificate the coupon reflects the weighted average nominal rate of interest paid on the underlying mortgage loans net of

fees paid to the servicer and the agency The coupon for pass-through certificate may change as the underlying mortgage loans are prepaid

The percentages indicated in this colunm are the nominal interest rates that will be effective through the interest rate reset date and have not been

adjusted to reflect the purchase price we paid for the face amount of security

Amortized purchase price
is the dollar amount per $100 of current face of our purchase pnce for the security adjusted for amortization as

result of scheduled and unscheduled
principal paydowns

Amortized cost is our total purchase price
for the mortgage security adjusted for amortization as result of scheduled and unscheduled

principal paydowns
Market price is the dollar amount of market value per $100 of nominal or face value of the mortgage security Under normal conditions we

compute market value by obtaining three valuations for the mortgage security from three
separate

and independent sources and averaging the

three valuations

Market value is the total market value for the mortgage security Under normal conditions we compute market value by obtaining valuations

for the mortgage security
from three

separate
and independent sources and averaging the three valuations

Our investment portfolio consisted of the following breakdown between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac at

December 31 2011

December31 2011

Estimated

dollars in thousands Fair Value of Total

Agency MBS

Fannie Mae Certificates $12219548 68.9%

Freddie Mac Certificates 5522325 31.1%

Total MBS $17741873

We typically want to own higher percentage of Fannie Mae MBS than Freddie Mac MBS as Fannie Mae has

better cash flow to the security holder as Fannie Mae pays their principal and interest quicker after accrual 45 days

as compared to Freddie Mac 75 days

As of December 31 2011 excluding any fixed-rate securities the ARMs underlying our adjustable rate agency

securities had fixed interest rates for an average period of approximately 51 months after which time the interest

rates reset and become adjustable annually At December 31 2011 98.8% of our agency ARMs were still in their

initial fixed-rate period and approximately 2.04% of our agency MBS will reach the end of their initial fixed-rate

period in the next 12 months The balance of our agency ARMs have already reached their initial reset period and

will reset annually for the life of the security

After the reset date interest rates on our agency ARMs float based on spreads over various indices usually

LIBOR or the one-year CMT These interest rate adjustments are subject to caps that limit the amount the

applicable interest rate can increase during any year known as an annual cap and through the maturity of the

security known as lifetime cap Our agency ARMs typically have maximum initial one-time adjustment of 5%
and the average annual interest rate increase or decrease to the interest rates on our agency

securities is 2% per

year The average
lifetime cap on increases or decreases to the interest rates on our agency

securities is 5% from

the initial stated rate
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While most of our purchases of agency MBS are accounted for using trade date accounting some forward

purchases such as certain TBAs do not qualif for trade date accounting and are considered derivatives for financial

statement purposes Pursuant to ASC Topic 815 we account for these derivatives as all-in-one cash flow hedges

The net fair value of the forward commitment is reported on the balance sheet as an asset or liability with

corresponding unrealized gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income Since we purchase forward for

the purposes of holding the securities for investment we consider all our agency MBS settled or unsettled as part

of our portfolio for the purposes of cash flow and interest rate sensitivity and consequently hedging duration

measurement and other related investment management activity

Liabilities

We have entered into repurchase agreements to finance most of our agency securities Our repurchase

agreements are secured by our agency securities and bear interest at rates that have historically moved in close

relationship to LIBOR As of December 31 2011 we had established 29 borrowing relationships with various

investment banking firms and other lenders We had outstanding balances under our repurchase agreements at

December 31 2011 of $16.2 billion

Hedging Instruments

We generally intend to hedge as much of our interest rate risk as our manager deems prudent in light of market

conditions No assurance can be given that our hedging activities will have the desired beneficial impact on our

results of operations or financial condition Our policies do not contain specific requirements as to the percentages

or amount of interest rate risk that our manager is required to hedge

Interest rate hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because among other things

available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which

protection is sought

the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability

the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay

the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it

impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction and

the value of derivatives used for hedging may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with

accounting rules to reflect changes in fair value Downward adjustments or mark-to-market losses

would reduce our shareholders equity

As of December 31 2011 we had entered into interest rate swap agreements designed to lock in funding costs

for specific funding activities associated with specific assets as way to realize attractive net interest margins

Such hedges incorporate an assumed prepayment schedule which if not realized will cause hedge results to differ

from expectations These swap agreements provide for fixed interest rates indexed off of one-month LIBOR and

effectively fix the floating interest rates on $7.3 billion of borrowings under our repurchase agreements

Results of Operations

We commenced our operations in November 2007 with our first private offering of our common stock We also

issued additional shares three times during 2008 once in 2010 and twice in 2011 each of which significantly

increased our equity capital and thus the size of our portfolio Under our investment strategy it generally takes

some time to deploy significant amounts investment capital Consequently comparison of some year over year data

or quarter over quarter data especially of
gross numbers may not be meaningful or useful in predicting future

results
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2011 Compared to 2010

Our net income for the year ended December 31 2011 was $284.4 million or $3.97 per weighted average

share decrease of $0.33 per share from earnings for the year ended December 31 2010 of $169.5 million or $4.30

per weighted average share In general the increase in the gross net income number was result of our significant

capital raises early in 2011 In general this discussion will not comment on the increase in gross numbers as this was

primarily function of our increase in equity

To understand the decrease on per
share basis requires deeper look into the components of our business

model Two of the main drivers of earnings in an interest rate sensitive business are the interest rate cycle and

the steepness of the yield curve Generally later in the falling interest rate part of the cycle the difference between

the amount we earn on our assets and pay on our liabilities or net interest spread experiences compression While

there is wide range of reasons and timing aspects this trend is reflective of the yield curve in general Often at the

same time this compression is exacerbated by an increased rate of homeowner refinancing or prepayments which

occurs as mortgage rates fall Prepayment rates trended higher during 2011 due to falling interest rates flatter

yield curve and continued actions by the Federal Reserve and Treasury to make refinancing mortgage

economically attractive In our portfolio higher prepayments contributed in three ways to lower interest income

higher premium amortization expense and lower asset yields lower average earning assets and lower

weighted average coupon as new investments were at lower coupons

While the relative difference between our interest income and interest expense is more important to our net

income than the absolute level of rates the yield on our assets is significantly affected by the coupon rate Because

of lower overall mortgage rates our weighted average coupon at December 31 2011 was 3.46% 0.48% decrease

from December 31 2010 when our assets had weighted average coupon of 3.94% These coupon rates declined

throughout 2011 primarily due to continued economic weakness further declines in the U.S housing market and

continued pressure on mortgage rates from U.S government policy This resulted in our asset purchases being on

average at lower interest rates Spread compression is normal part of an interest rate cycle the affects of which

become more pronounced the longer that rates stay low and stable

Our net interest income for the year ended December 31 2011 was $281.5 million an increase compared to the

year ended December 31 2010 amount of $169.1 million In 2011 our portfolio had an average yield of 2.84% and

cost of funds including hedges of 1.06% This resulted in net interest margin or spread of 1.78% for the year

ended December 31 2011 For the year ended December 31 2010 our portfolio had yield of 3.74% and cost of

funds of 1.48% generating net interest rate spread of 2.26%

After coupon rate the yield on our assets is most directly affected by the rate of repayments on our agency

securities The percentage rate of our portfolio repayment for the year ended December 31 2011 was 24.54% as

compared to 36.27% for the year
ended December 31 2010 While this rate of repayment was lower in 2011 it was

still higher than expected and in 2010 the U.S government instituted one-time repurchase of delinquent

mortgages which skewed the rate higher for that year At December 31 2011 our portfolio had an average dollar

price of $102.47 per $100 of face value Keeping the price of our portfolio close to par helps us predict and manage

the costs associated with the repayment speeds of our assets as changes in repayments speeds have lesser affect on

income than portfolio with higher premium price

Our weighted average cost of funds not including hedges for the year ended December 31 2011 was 0.29%

decreasing from 0.42% year ended December 31 2010 The main indicator of our borrowing costs is the 30-day

LIBOR which generally closely parallels the rates we pay on our repurchase agreements The LIBOR rate stayed

consistently low throughout 2011 ending 2011 at 0.30% In 2011 we incurred expense related to our interest rate

hedges of $105.1 million as compared to $68.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 We increased our

total notional interest rate swap amount from $4.4 billion at December 31 2010 to $7.3 billion at December 31
2011 Lower repurchase rates combined with lower overall rate on our hedges resulted in an average cost of funds

for the year ended December 31 2011 of 1.06% down from 1.48% for the year ended December 31 2010 We
ended 2011 with total $7.3 billion of interest rate swap contracts with weighted average rate of 1.78% and

weighted average term of 34 months
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We sold some of our agency securities in 2011 as part of normal adjustments to our portfolio Although we

typically buy and hold our securities as conditions change in any year we may choose to dispose of certain

securities For example we may dispose of security if it falls outside of our current desired asset mix or we

believe it to be at an increased risk of prepayment In 2011 we disposed of $1.6 billion face value of agency MBS

for net gain of $20.6 million In 2010 we disposed of $540 million face value of agency
MBS for gain of$ 13.6

million

Our total operating expenses increased for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to the year ended

December 31 2010 However when measured as percentage of average equity they decreased meaningfully

Total operating expenses were $17.7 million which represented 93 basis points on average daily equity for the year

ended December 31 2011 The
year

ended December 31 2010 total expenses were $13.1 million which represented

129 basis points on average equity for the year The main component of our operating expense is our management

fee which is paid according to the management agreement and is based on total equity excluding unrealized gains

and losses This comprised $1 3.8 million of the total expenses The remaining expenses are share based

compensation of $1.2 million which represents the amortization of stock awards to certain officers and directors

and general and administrative expenses of $2.7 million which includes liability insurance auditing fees exchange

fees and other administrative costs

2010 Compared to 2009

Our net income for the year ended December 31 2010 was $169.5 million or $4.30 per weighted average

share decrease of $0.52 per share from earnings from the year ended December 31 2009 of $174.4 million or

$4.82 per weighted average share There were two main drivers of this trend The first was high prepayment rates

during the year due to falling interest rates and the delinquent loan buybacks by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

Higher prepayments contributed in three ways to lower interest income higher premium amortization

expense lower average earning assets and lower weighted average coupon as new investments were at lower

coupons The second major factor was that we had an increased share count as result of our September 2010

common stock offering

Our net interest income for the year ended December 31 2010 was $169.1 million decrease compared to the

year ended December 31 2009 amount of $186.8 million As mentioned in the previous paragraph prepayments

contributed significantly to this decline Also prepayments and therefore amortization expense were high in the

second half of the year due to lower mortgage rates and thus higher rate of refinancing In 2010 our portfolio had

an average yield of 3.74% and cost of funds including hedges of 1.48% This resulted in net interest margin or

spread of 2.26% for the year ended December 31 2010 For the year ended December 31 2009 our portfolio had

yield of 4.64% and cost of funds of 1.73% generating net interest rate spread of 2.91%

While the relative difference between our interest income and interest expense is more important to our

performance than the absolute level of rates the yield on our assets is significant indicator of performance Our

gross coupon rate in 2010 dropped from 2009 due to lower overall mortgage rates combined with higher prepayment

levels At the end of 2009 we had invested in agency securities with weighted average coupon of 4.86% These

coupon rates declined throughout 2010 primarily due to continued government intervention in the mortgage markets

which meant any purchases were at lower overall interest rates Spread compression is normal part of an interest

rate cycle the affects of which become more pronounced the longer that rates are low and stable Our weighted

average coupon at December 31 2010 was 3.94%

After coupon rate the yield on our assets is most directly affected by the rate of repayments on our agency

securities Our rate of portfolio repayment for the year ended December 31 2010 was 36.27% as compared to

19.79% for the year ended December 31 2009 Low overall mortgage rates combined with U.S government

intervention in the mortgage market created significant increase in residential mortgage refinancing and is risk

to earnings in the future At December 31 2010 our portfolio had an average dollar price of $102.13 per $100 of

face value Keeping the price of our portfolio close to par helps predict costs associated with repayment speeds of

our assets as changes in repayments speeds have lesser affect on income than higher price portfolio

Our weighted average cost of funds not including hedges for the year ended December 31 2010 was 0.42%

decreasing from 0.78% year ended December 31 2009 The main indicator of our borrowing costs is the 30-day
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LIBOR which generally closely parallels the rates we pay on our repurchase agreements The LIBOR rate stayed

consistently low throughout 2010 ending 2010 at 0.26% Our cost of funds also fell because we had some longer

term repurchase agreements with higher fixed rates that terminated in 2010 In 2010 we incurred expense related to

our interest rate hedges of $68.9 million as compared to $52.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 We

increased our total notional interest rate swap amount from $2.7 billion at December 31 2009 to $4.4 billion at

December 31 2010 Lower repurchase rates combined with lower overall rate on our hedges resulted in an

average cost of funds for the year ended December 31 2010 of 1.48% down from 1.73% for the year ended

December 31 2009 We ended 2010 with total $4.4 billion of interest rate swap contracts with weighted average

rate of 2.15% and weighted average term of 34 months

We sold some of our agency
securities in 2010 as part of normal adjustments to our portfolio Although we

typically buy and hold our securities as conditions change in any year we may choose to dispose of certain

securities For example we may dispose of security if it falls outside of our current desired asset mix or we

believe it to be at an increased risk of prepayment In 2010 we disposed of $540 million face value of agency MBS

for gain of$ 13.6 million We had no sales in 2009

Our total operating expenses were largely unchanged for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the

year ended December 31 2009 Total operating expenses were $13.1 million which represented 129 basis points on

average daily equity for the year ended December 31 2010 The year ended December 31 2009 total expenses

were $12.4 million which represented 142 basis points on average equity for the year The main component of our

operating expense is our management fee which is paid according to the management agreement and is based on

total equity excluding unrealized gains and losses The management fee comprised $9.2 million of the total

expenses for 2010 The remaining expenses for 2010 are share based compensation of $1.4 million which

represents the amortization of stock awards to certain officers and directors and general and administrative expenses

of $2.5 million which includes liability insurance auditing fees exchange fees and other administrative costs

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We had the following contractual obligations under repurchase agreements as of December 31 2011 and

December 31 2010 dollar amounts in thousands

December 31 2011

Weighted Average Contractual Total Contractual

dollars in thousands Balance Contractual Rate Interest Payments Obligation

Within 30 days $16162375 0.37% $3820 $16166195

30 days to months

months to 36 months

$16162375 0.37% $3820 $16166195

December 31 2010

Weighted Average Contractual Total Contractual

dollars in thousands Balance Contractual Rate Interest Payments Obligation

Within 30 days $7530317 0.38% $1758 $7532075

30 days to months 1050743 0.60% 572 1051315

months to 36 months 100000 2.96% 1660 101660

$8681060 0.44% $3990 $8685050

From time to time we may make forward commitments to purchase our agency MBS The commitments require

physical settlement with the sellers on settlement date usually between 30 and 90 days from the date of trade The

following table shows the Agency MBS forward purchase commitments shown as net liability on the balance sheet

as of December 31 2011
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Fair Market Due to

Face Cost Value Brokers

$340000 $348937 $351249 $348937

We had contractual commitments under interest rate swap agreements as of December 31 2011 These

agreements were for total notional amount of $7.3 billion had an average rate of 1.78% and weighted average

term of 34 months

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of funds are borrowings under repurchase arrangements and monthly principal and interest

payments on our investments Other sources of funds may include proceeds from debt and equity offerings and

asset sales We generally maintain liquidity to pay down borrowings under repurchase arrangements to reduce

borrowing costs and otherwise efficiently manage our long-term investment capital Because the level of these

borrowings can be adjusted on daily basis the level of cash and cash equivalents carried on the balance sheet is

significantly less important than our potential liquidity available under our borrowing arrangements We currently

believe that we have sufficient liquidity and capital resources available for the acquisition of additional investments

repayments on borrowings and the payment of cash dividends as required for continued qualification as REIT

In response to the growth of our agency securities portfolio and to recent turbulent market conditions we have

aggressively pursued additional lending counterparties in order to help increase our financial flexibility and ability to

withstand periods of contracting liquidity in the credit markets At December 31 2011 we had uncommitted

repurchase facilities with 29 lending counterparties to finance this portfolio subject to certain conditions and have

borrowings outstanding with 23 of these counterparties

Liquidity SourcesRepurchase Facilities

With repurchase facilities being an integral part of our financing strategy and thus our financial condition full

understanding of the repurchase market is necessary to understand the risks and drivers of our business For

example we anticipate that upon repayment of each borrowing under repurchase agreement we will use the

collateral immediately for borrowing under new repurchase agreement And while we have borrowing capacity

under our repurchase facilities well in excess of what is required for our operations these borrowing lines are

uncommitted and generally do not provide long term excess liquidity Currently we have not entered into any

commitment agreements under which the lender would be required to enter into new repurchase agreements during

specified period of time nor do we presently plan to have liquidity facilities with commercial banks

The table below sets forth the average amount of repurchase agreements outstanding during each quarter and

the amount of these repurchase agreements outstanding as of the end of each quarter for the last two years The

amounts at period end can be both above and below the average amounts for the quarter We do not manage our

portfolio to have pre-designated amount of borrowings at quarter end These numbers will differ as we implement

our portfolio management strategies and risk management strategies over changing market conditions

In thousands Average Daily Repurchase Highest Daily Lowest Daily

Repurchase Agreements at Repurchase Balance Repurchase Balance

Agreements Period End During Quarter During Quarter

December 31 2011 $16280835 $16162375 $16807220 $15886231

September 30 2011 $14884196 $15886231 $15907289 $14334014

June 30 2011 $13540291 $14800594 $14800594 $11401240

March 312011 9983197 11495749 11495749 8566200

December 31 2010 7326776 8681060 8681060 6633989

September 30 2010 6302601 6678426 6736759 5934419

June 30 2010 6092328 5982998 6218628 5956811

March 31 2010 6222923 6102661 6346518 6047628

December 31 2009 6079893 6346518 6346518 6005602

September 30 2009 5781639 6007909 6012302 5496854

June 30 2009 5359086 5496854 5567486 5242988

March 31 2009 4985718 5250382 5273594 4519435

43



As of December 31 2011 the weighted average margin requirement or the percentage amount by which the

collateral value must exceed the loan amount which we also refer to as the haircut under all our repurchase

agreements was approximately 4.4% weighted by borrowing amount As of December 31 2010 our weighted

average haircut was 4.4% This rate remained constant as lending conditions have been stable

We commonly receive margin calls from our lenders We may receive margin calls daily although we typically

receive them once or twice per month We receive margin calls under our repurchase agreements for two reasons

One of these is what is known as factor call which occurs each month when the new factors amount of principal

remaining on the security are published by the issuing agency such as Fannie Mae The second type of margin call

we may receive is valuation margin call Both factor and valuation margin calls occur whenever the total value of

our assets drops beyond threshold amount which is usually between $100000 and $250000 Both of these

margin calls require dollar for dollar restoration of the margin shortfall The total amount of our unrestricted cash

and cash equivalents plus any unpledged securities is available to satisfy margin calls if necessary As of

December 31 2011 and 2010 we had approximately $1.1 billion and $630 million respectively in agency

securities short term investments cash and cash equivalents available to satisfy future margin calls To date we

have maintained sufficient liquidity to meet margin calls and we have never been unable to satisfy margin call

although no assurance can be given that we will be able to satisfy requests from our lenders to post additional

collateral in the future

One risk to our liquidity is the collateral or haircut held by our lenders In the event of insolvency by

repurchase agreement lender our claim to our haircut becomes that of general unsecured creditor In October of

2011 MF Global Inc one of our lending counterparties filed for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S Bankruptcy

Code We were unable to recover approximately $0.8 million that was due us at that time under our repurchase

agreement with MF Global Inc Due to the complexity of this estate it will likely be several years before we

receive any clarity as to any recovery and therefore we recorded loss allowance for the total amount due at that

time

An event of default or termination event under the standard master repurchase agreement would give our

counterparty the option to terminate all repurchase transactions existing with us and require any amount due by us to

the counterparty to be payable immediately Our agreements for our repurchase facilities generally conform to the

terms in the standard master repurchase agreement as published by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets

Association SIFMA as to repayment margin requirements and the segregation of all purchased securities covered

by the repurchase agreement In addition each lender may require that we include supplemental terms and

conditions to the standard master repurchase agreement that are generally required by the lender Some of the

typical terms which are included in such supplements and which supplement and amend terms contained in the

standard agreement include changes to the margin maintenance requirements purchase price maintenance

requirements the addition of requirement that all controversies related to the repurchase agreement be litigated in

particular jurisdiction and cross default provisions These provisions differ for each of our lenders

As discussed above under Market and Interest Rate Trends and the Effect on our Portfolio over the last

few years the residential mortgage market in the United States has experienced difficult conditions including

increased volatility of many financial assets including agency
securities and other high-quality MBS

assets due to news of potential security liquidations

increased volatility and deterioration in the broader residential mortgage and MBS markets and

significant disruption in financing of MBS

Although these conditions have lessened of late if they increased and persisted our lenders may be forced to

exit the repurchase market become insolvent or further tighten lending standards or increase the amount of haircut

any of which could make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain financing
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Effects ofMargin Requirements Leverage and Credit Spreads

Our agency securities have values that fluctuate according to market conditions and as discussed above the

market value of our agency securities will decrease as prevailing interest rates or credit spreads increase When the

value of the securities pledged to secure repurchase loan decreases to the point where the positive difference

between the collateral value and the loan amount is less than the haircut our lenders may issue margin call which

means that the lender will require us to pay the margin call in cash or pledge additional collateral to meet that

margin call Under our repurchase facilities our lenders have full discretion to determine the value of the agency

securities we pledge to them Most of our lenders will value securities based on recent trades in the market

Lenders also issue margin calls as the published current principal balance factors change on the pool of mortgages

underlying the securities pledged as collateral when scheduled and unscheduled paydowns are announced monthly

Similar to the valuation margin calls that we receive on our repurchase agreements we also receive margin calls

on our interest rate swaps when the value of hedge position declines This typically occurs when prevailing

market rates decrease with the severity of the decrease also dependent on the term of the hedges involved The

amount of any margin call will be dollar for dollar with minimum transfer amount of between $100000 and

$250000 Our posting of collateral with our hedge counterparties can be done in cash or securities and is generally

bilateral which means that if the value of our interest rate hedges increases our counterparty will post collateral

with us

We experience margin calls in the ordinary course of our business and under certain conditions such as during

period of declining market value for agency securities we experience margin calls at least monthly and often more

frequently In seeking to manage effectively the margin requirements established by our lenders we maintain

position of cash and unpledged securities We refer to this position as our liquidity The level of liquidity we have

available to meet margin calls is directly affected by our leverage levels our haircuts and the price changes on our

securities If interest rates increase as result of yield curve shift or for another reason or if credit spreads widen

the prices of our collateral and our unpledged assets that constitute our liquidity will decline we will experience

margin calls and we will use our liquidity to meet the margin calls There can be no assurance that we will maintain

sufficient levels of liquidity to meet any margin calls If our haircuts increase our liquidity will proportionately

decrease In addition if we increase our borrowings our liquidity will decrease by the amount of additional haircut

on the increased level of indebtedness

We intend to maintain level of liquidity in relation to our assets that enables us to meet reasonably anticipated

margin calls but that also allows us to be substantially invested in agency securities We may misjudge the

appropriate amount of our liquidity by maintaining excessive liquidity which would lower our investment returns

or by maintaining insufficient liquidity which would force us to liquidate assets into unfavorable market conditions

and harm our results of operations and financial condition

As of December 31 2011 the weighted average haircut under our repurchase facilities was approximately

4.4% and our leverage defined as our debt-to-shareholders equity ratio was approximately 7.81

Liquidity SourcesCapital Offrrings

In addition to our repurchase borrowings we also rely on primary securities offerings as source of both short-

term and long-term liquidity During 2011 we received funds from sales of our common stock under an at-the

market offering program and from fully underwritten offering we completed in January and March

On October 2009 we entered into Sales Agreement the Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald Co

Cantor to create controlled equity offering program the CEO Program Under the terms of our Sales

Agreement for our CEO Program we may offer and sell up to 5000000 shares of our common stock from time to

time through Cantor acting as agent and/or principal Sales of the shares of common stock if any may be made in

private transactions negotiated transactions or any method permitted by law deemed to be an at the market

offering as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act including sales made directly on the NYSE or to or through

market maker other than on an exchange Under the Sales Agreement Cantor will use its commercially

reasonable efforts consistent with its normal sales and trading practices to sell the shares of common stock as
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directed by us The compensation payable to for sales of shares of common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement

will be up to 2% of the gross sales price per
share for any shares sold under the Sales Agreement

Pursuant to the CEO Program during the year ended December 31 2011 we issued 2361500 shares of

common stock in at-the-market transactions at an average price of $28.48 per share raising net proceeds after sales

commissions and expenses of approximately $66.2 million We paid $0.9 million in sales commissions to Cantor

during the year ended December 31 2011 The shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the CEO Program are

registered with the SEC on our Registration Statement on Form S-3 No 333-159145 which became effective upon

filing on October 2009

On January 2011 we completed secondary public common stock offering that resulted in the issuance of

11500000 share of our common stock including 1500000 shares pursuant to the underwriters overallotment

option The sales price to the public was $28.75 per share and we received net proceeds of $325.7 million after the

payment of underwriting discounts and expenses We used the proceeds of this offering to purchase additional

agency securities provide working capital and liquidity for our hedging strategy

On March 18 2011 we completed another secondary public offering of 14500000 shares of our common

stock at price to the public of $28.50 per share and received net proceeds of approximately $407.6 million after

the payment of underwriting discounts and expenses As part of this transaction we issued an additional 2175000

shares of common stock pursuant to the underwriters overallotment option for net proceeds to us of $61.2 million

Forward-Looking Statements Regarding Liquidity

Based on our current portfolio leverage rate and available borrowing arrangements we believe that the net

proceeds of our common equity offerings combined with cash flow from operations and available borrowing

capacity will be sufficient to enable us to meet anticipated short-term one year or less liquidity requirements such

as to fund our investment activities to pay fees under our management agreement to fund our distributions to

shareholders and for general corporate expenses

Our ability to meet our long-term greater than one year liquidity and capital resource requirements will be

subject to obtaining additional debt financing and equity capital We may increase our capital resources by

obtaining long-term credit facilities or making public or private offerings of equity or debt securities possibly

including classes of preferred stock common stock and senior or subordinated notes Such financing will depend

on market conditions for capital raises and for the investment of any proceeds If we are unable to renew replace or

expand our sources of financing on substantially similar terms it may have an adverse effect on our business and

results of operations

We generally seek to borrow on recourse basis between eight and 12 times the amount of our shareholders

equity At December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 our total borrowings were approximately $16.2 billion and

$8.7 billion excluding accrued interest respectively which represented leverage ratio of approximately 7.81 and

7.61 respectively

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with GAAP In preparing the financial statements

management is required to make various judgments estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have material effect on our financial statements The following

is summary of our policies most affected by managements judgments estimates and assumptions

Interest Income Interest income is earned and recognized based on the outstanding principal amount of the

investment securities and their contractual terms Premiums and discounts associated with the purchase of the

investment securities are amortized or accreted into interest income over the actual lives of the securities using the

effective interest method
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Market Valuation of Investment Securities We invest in agency MBS representing interests in or obligations

backed by pools of single-family adjustable-rate mortgage loans Guidance under the Financial Accounting

Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic on Investments requires us to

classify our investments as either trading available-for-sale or held-to-maturity securities Management determines

the appropriate classifications of the securities at the time they are acquired and evaluates the appropriateness of

such classifications at each balance sheet date We currently classifies all of our agency MBS as available-for-sale

All assets that are classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are

included in other comprehensive income

The estimated fair values of MBS are determined by management by obtaining valuations for our MBS from

independent sources and averaging these valuations Security purchase and sale transactions are recorded on the

trade date Gains or losses realized from the sale of securities are included in income and are determined using the

specific identification method Firmpurchase commitments to acquire when issued or to-be-announced TBA
securities are recorded at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging The fair value of

these purchase commitments is included in other assets or liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets

Impairment of Assets We assess our investment securities for other-than-temporary impairment on at least

quarterly basis When the fair value of an investment is less than its amortized cost at the balance sheet date of the

reporting period for which impairment is assessed the impairment is designated as either temporary or other-

than-temporary In deciding on whether or not security is other than temporarily impaired we use two step

evaluation process First we determine whether we have made any decision to sell security that is in an unrealized

loss position or if not is it more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security prior to recovering its

amortized cost basis If we determine that the answer to either of these questions is yes then the security is

considered other-than-temporarily impaired There were no such impairment losses recognized during the periods

presented

Derivative Instruments We account for derivative instruments in accordance with the guidance included in the

ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging This guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for

derivative instruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts collectively referred to

as derivatives and for hedging activities The guidance requires that every derivative instrument be recorded in the

balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value and that changes in the derivatives fair value

be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met Special accounting for

qualifying hedges allows derivatives gains and losses to either offset related results on the hedged item in the

statement of income or be accumulated in other comprehensive income and requires that company formally

document designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting We use derivative

instruments to manage our exposure to changing interest rates generally with interest rate swap agreements

Inflation

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities are interest rate sensitive in nature As result interest rates and other

factors directly influence our performance far more than inflation Although inflation is primary factor in any

interest rate changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with changes in inflation rates and these affects

may be imperfect or lagging Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and any distributions

we may make will be determined by our board of directors based in part on our REIT taxable income as calculated

according to the requirements of the Code in each case our activities and balance sheet are measured with reference

to fair value without considering inflation

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 we did not maintain any relationships with unconsolidated entities or

financial partnerships such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose or variable interest

entities established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or

limited purposes Further as of December 31 2011 and 2010 we had not guaranteed any obligations of any

unconsolidated entities or entered into any commitment or intent to provide funding to any such entities
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We seek to manage our risks related to the credit quality of our assets interest rates liquidity prepayment

speeds and market value while at the same time seeking to provide an opportunity to shareholders to realize

attractive risk-adjusted returns through ownership of our capital stock While we do not seek to avoid risk

completely we believe the risk can be quantified from historical experience and seek to actively manage that risk to

earn sufficient compensation to justify taking those risks and to maintain capital levels consistent with the risks we

undertake

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the primary component of our market risk Interest rates are highly sensitive to many

factors including fiscal and monetary policies and domestic and international economic and political considerations

as well as other factors beyond our control We will be subject to interest rate risk in connection with our

investments and our related financing obligations

Interest Rate Effect on Net Interest Income

Our operating results depend in large part on differences between the yields earned on our investments and our

cost of borrowing and hedging activities The cost of our borrowings will generally be based on prevailing market

interest rates During periods of rising interest rates the borrowing costs associated with agency securities tend to

increase while the income earned on agency securities may remain substantially unchanged until the interest rates

reset This results in narrowing of the net interest spread between the assets and related borrowings and may even

result in losses The severity of any such decline would depend on our asset/liability composition at the time as well

as the magnitude and duration of the interest rate increase Further an increase in short-term interest rates could

also have negative impact on the market value of our investments If any of these events happen we could

experience decrease in net income or incur net loss during these periods which could adversely affect our

liquidity and results of operations

We seek to mitigate interest rate risk through utilization of longer term repurchase agreements and hedging

instruments primarily interest rate swap agreements Interest rate swap agreements are intended to serve as hedge

against future interest rate increases on our variable rate borrowings As of December 31 2011 we had entered into

interest rate swap agreements designed to mitigate the effects of increases in interest rates under $7.3 billion of our

repurchase agreements

Hedging techniques are partly based on assumed levels of prepayments of our agency securities If

prepayments are slower or faster than assumed the life of the agency securities will be longer or shorter which

would reduce the effectiveness of any hedging strategies we may use and may cause losses on such transactions

Hedging strategies involving the use of derivative securities are highly complex and may produce volatile returns

Hedging techniques are also limited by the rules relating to REIT qualification In order to preserve our REIT

status we may be forced to terminate hedging transaction at time when the transaction is most needed

Interest Rate Cap Risk

The ARMs that underlie our agency securities are typically subject to periodic and lifetime interest rate caps

and floors which limit the amount by which the securitys interest rate may change during any given period

However our borrowing costs pursuant to our financing agreements will not be subject to similar restrictions

Therefore in period of increasing interest rates interest rate costs on our borrowings could increase without

limitation while the interest-rate increases on our adjustable-rate and hybrid agency securities could effectively be

limited by caps Agency securities backed by ARMs may be subject to periodic payment caps that result in some

portion of the interest being deferred and added to the principal outstanding This could result in our receipt of less

cash from such investments than we would need to pay the interest cost on our related borrowings These factors

could lower our net interest income or cause net loss during periods of rising interest rates which would harm our

financial condition cash flows and results of operations
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Interest Rate Mismatch Risk

We fund substantial portion of our acquisition of agency securities with borrowings that are based on LIBOR

while the interest rates on these agency securities may be indexed to LIBOR or another index rate such as the one-

year CMT rate Accordingly any increase in LIBOR relative to one-year CMT rates may result in an increase in our

borrowing costs that is not matched by corresponding increase in the interest earnings on these investments Any

such interest rate index mismatch could adversely affect our profitability which may negatively impact distributions

to our shareholders To seek to mitigate interest rate mismatches we may utilize the hedging strategies discussed

above

Our analysis of risks is based on our managers experience estimates and assumptions including estimates of

fair value and interest rate sensitivity Actual economic conditions or implementation of investment decisions by

our manager may produce results that differ significantly from our managers estimates and assumptions

Prepayment Risk

As we receive repayments of principal on our agency securities from prepayments and scheduled payments

premiums paid on such securities are amortized against interest income and discounts are accreted to interest

income Premiums arise when we acquire agency securities at prices in excess of the principal balance of the

mortgage loans underlying such agency
securities Conversely discounts arise when we acquire agency securities at

prices below the principal balance of the mortgage loans underlying such agency securities To date substantially

all of our agency securities have been purchased at premium

For financial accounting purposes
interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance of the

investment securities and their contractual terms In general purchase premiums on investment securities are

amortized against interest income over the lives of the securities using the effective yield method adjusted for actual

prepayment and cash flow activity An increase in the principal repayment rate will typically accelerate the

amortization of purchase premiums and decrease in the repayment rate will typically slow the accretion of

purchase discounts thereby reducing the yield/interest income earned on such assets

When we receive repayments of principal on our agency securities from prepayments and scheduled payments

to maintain similar rate of earnings per share we may want to reinvest the proceeds from these repayments in

similar yielding investments In addition due to standard settlement conventions it may take time to reinvest these

proceeds and leave gap in earnings until we can find and settle on suitable investment assets In times of market

illiquidity or tight supply we may have periods where similar types of assets are not available to replace those assets

repaid to us decrease in earnings could be significant in periods of high prepayments

Extension Risk

We invest in agency securities currently backed by ARMs which have interest rates that are fixed for the early

years of the loan typically three five or seven years and thereafter reset periodically on the same basis as agency

securities backed by ARMs We compute the projected weighted-average life of our agency securities backed by

ARMs based on assumptions regarding the rate at which the borrowers will prepay the underlying mortgage loans

In general when agency securities backed by ARMs are acquired with borrowings we may but are not required to

enter into an interest rate swap agreement or other hedging instrument that effectively fixes our borrowing costs for

period close to the anticipated weighted-average life of the fixed-rate portion of the related agency securities This

strategy is designed to protect us from rising interest rates by fixing our borrowing costs for the duration of the

fixed-rate period of the mortgage loans underlying the related agency securities

We may structure our interest rate swap agreements to expire in conjunction with the estimated weighted

average life of the fixed period of the mortgage loans underlying our agency securities However in rising interest

rate environment the weighted average life of the fixed-rate mortgage loans underlying our agency securities could

extend beyond the term of the swap agreement or other hedging instrument This could have negative impact on

our results from operations as borrowing costs would no longer be fixed after the term of the hedging instrument

while the income earned on the remaining agency securities would remain fixed for period of time This situation
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may also cause the market value of our agency securities to decline with little or no offsetting gain from the related

hedging transactions In extreme situations we may be forced to sell assets to maintain adequate liquidity which

could cause us to incur losses

Interest Rate Risk and Efftct on Market Value Risk

Another component of interest rate risk is the effect changes in interest rates will have on the market value of

our agency securities We face the risk that the market value of our agency securities will increase or decrease at

different rates than that of our liabilities including our hedging instruments

We primarily assess our interest rate risk by estimating the effective duration of our assets and the effective

duration of our liabilities and by estimating the time difference between the interest rate adjustment of our assets and

the interest rate adjustment of our liabilities Effective duration essentially measures the market price volatility of

financial instruments as interest rates change We generally estimate effective duration using various financial

models and empirical data Different models and methodologies can produce different effective duration estimates

for the same securities

The sensitivity analysis tables presented below show the estimated impact of an instantaneous parallel shift in

the yield curve up and down 50 and 100 basis points on the market value of our interest rate-sensitive investments

and net interest income at December 31 2011 and 2010 assuming static portfolio When evaluating the impact of

changes in interest rates prepayment assumptions and principal reinvestment rates are adjusted based on our

managers expectations The analysis presented utilized assumptions models and estimates of the manager based on

the managers judgment and experience

December 31 2011

Percentage Change in Percentage Change in

Projected Net Interest Projected Portfolio

Change in Interest rates Income Value

-I- 1.00% 10.37% 0.40%
0.50% 4.76% 0.05%
0.50% 0.27% 0.30%
1.00% 5.91% 0.80%

December 31 2010

Percentage Change in Percentage Change in

Projected Net Interest Projected Portfolio

Change in Interest rates Income Value

-I- 1.00% 7.25% 1.50%
0.50% 3.0% 0.54%
0.50% 1.48% 0.26%

1.00% 3.68% 0.38%

While the charts above reflect the estimated immediate impact of interest rate increases and decreases on

static portfolio we rebalance our portfolio from time to time either to seek to take advantage of or reduce the impact

of changes in interest rates It is important to note that the impact of changing interest rates on market value and net

interest income can change significantly when interest rates change beyond 100 basis points from current levels

Therefore the volatility in the market value of our assets could increase significantly when interest rates change

beyond amounts shown in the table above In addition other factors impact the market value of and net interest

income from our interest rate-sensitive investments and hedging instruments such as the shape of the yield curve

market expectations as to future interest rate changes and other market conditions Accordingly interest income

would likely differ from that shown above and such difference might be material and adverse to our shareholders

The above table quantifies the potential changes in net interest income and portfolio value which includes the

value of swaps should interest rates immediately change Given the low level of interest rates at December 31

2011 we applied floor of 0% for all anticipated interest rates included in our assumptions Due to presence of this

floor it is anticipated that any hypothetical interest rate decrease would have limited positive impact on our
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funding costs beyond certain level however because prepayments speeds are unaffected by this floor it is

expected that any
increase in our prepayment speeds occurring as result of

any
interest rate decrease or otherwise

could result in an acceleration of our premium amortization and the reinvestment of such prepaid principal in lower

yielding assets As result because the presence of this floor limits the positive impact of any interest rate decrease

on our funding costs Therefore at some point hypothetical interest rate decreases could cause the fair value of our

financial instruments and our net interest income to decline

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The required response under this Item is submitted in separate section of this Report See Index to the

Financial Statements on page F-l

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us is made

luown to the officers who certif our financial reports and to the members of senior management and the board of

directors

Based on managements evaluation as of December 31 2011 our principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 3a-l 5e or 5d-

15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are effective to ensure that the information required to be

disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in 3a-1 5f and 5d-1 5f of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal executive officer we

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework

in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework our

management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2011

Ernst Young LLP registered independent accounting firm has audited our fmancial statements included in

this annual report on Form 10-K and as part of its audit has issued report on the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 This report appears on page
F-28 of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change to our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended

December 31 2011 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over

financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

As of the quarter ended December 31 2011 all items required to be disclosed under Form 8-K were reported

under Form 8-K
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On February 23 2012 we entered into new management agreement with our external manager Atlantic

Capital Advisors LLC The new management agreement replaced our 2007 management agreement entered at the

time of our initial capitalization and before our initial public offering in 2008 The new management agreement

does not change the percentage of equity payable as management fee to the manager Compared to the 2007

management agreement the new management agreement provides that additional expenses are to be reimbursed or

paid by us The new management has three-year term and automatically renews for additional one-year terms

unless terminated in accordance with its provisions In addition the new agreement also provides for termination

fee under certain circumstances of four times the average annual management fee earned by the manager during the

two years immediately preceding termination by us

The foregoing description of the new management agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified

in its entirety by reference to the new management agreement copy of which has been filed as Exhibit 10.2 to this

report and is incorporated herein by reference

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012

Annual Shareholders meeting

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012

Annual Shareholders meeting

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012

Annual Shareholders meeting

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012

Annual Shareholders meeting

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012

Annual Shareholders meeting

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

Included herein at pages F-I through F-25

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X are either not required to be included herein

under the related instructions or are inapplicable or the related information is included in the footnotes to

the applicable financial statement and therefore have been omitted
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Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Articles of Incorporation

3.2 Bylaws1
Form of Common Stock Certificate2

10.1 Management Agreement by and among Hatteras Financial Corp and Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC
dated as of November 2007

10.2 Management Agreement by and among Hatteras Financial Corp and Atlantic Capital Advisors LLC

dated February 23 2012

10.3 2007 Equity Incentive PlanW

10.4 2010 Equity Incentive Plan3

10.5 Form of Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Award Agreement for executive officersW

10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for independent directorsW

10.7 Form of Indemnification AgreementW

12.1 Statement of computation of ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock

dividends

21 List of subsidiaries

23 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

24.1 Power of Attorney included on the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as created by Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as created by Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

100.1 Submitted electronically herewith as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted

in XBRL Extensible Business Reporting Language Balance Sheets at December31 2011 and

2010 ii Statements of Income for the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009

iii Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and

2009 iv Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009 and

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended December 31 2011

Users of this data are advised pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T that this interactive data file is

deemed not filed or part of registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of

the Securities Act of 1933 is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections

Represents management contract or compensatory plan or agreement

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-Il No 333-

149314 filed with the SEC on February 20 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed as an exhibit to Amendment No to the Registrants Registration Statement of Form

S-il No 333-149314 filed with the SEC on April 22 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrants Current Report of Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

May 2010 and incorporated herein by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

HATTERAS FINANCIAL CORP

Dated February 23 2012 By Is MICHAEL HOuGH

Michael Hough

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of

the Board ofDirectors

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that we the undersigned officers and directors of Hatteras

Financial Corp hereby severally constitute Michael Hough Benjamin Hough and Kenneth Steele and

each of them singly our true and lawful attorneys with full power to them and each of them singly to sign for us

and in our names in the capacities indicated below the Form 10-K filed herewith and any and all amendments to

said Form 10-K and generally to do all such things in our names and in our capacities as officers and directors to

enable Hatteras Financial Corp to comply with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

and all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifkjing and confirming our signatures as

they may be signed by our said attorneys or any of them to said Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and dates indicated

Date Si2nature

February 23 2012 Is Michael Hough Chief Executive Officer Principal

Michael Hough Executive Officer and Chairman of

the Board of Directors

February 23 2012 Is Benjamin Hough Director

Benjamin Hough

February 23 2012 Is David Berson Director

David Berson

February 23 2012 Is Ira Kawaller Director

Ira Kawaller

February 23 2012 /a Jeffrey Miller Director

Jeffrey Miller

February 23 2012 Is Thomas Wren Director

Thomas Wren

February 23 2012 Is Kenneth Steele Chief Financial Officer Principal

Kenneth Steele Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Hatteras Financial Corp

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Hatteras Financial Corp as of December 31 2011 and 2010

and the related statements of income comprehensive income shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31 2011 These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position

of Hatteras Financial Corp at December 31 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Hatteras Financial Corp.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Raleigh North Carolina

February 23 2012
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Balance Sheets

In thousands except per share amounts

Assets

December 31
2011

December 31

2010

Mortgage-backed securities at fair value

including pledged assets of $17012472 and $9089295 at December 31

2011

and 2010 respectively

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Unsettled purchased mortgage-backed securities at fair value

Accrued interest receivable

Principal payments receivable

Debt security held to maturity at cost

Interest rate hedge asset

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders equity

Repurchase agreements

Payable for unsettled securities

Accrued interest payable

Interest rate hedge liability

Dividend payable

Accounts payable and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock $00 par value 10000000 shares authorized none

outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010

Common stock $001 par value 100000000 shares authorized

76823220 and 46115990 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

$16162375 $8681060

48999 49774

4596 3177

219167 71681

69141 46116

2253 9687

16506531 8861495

77 46

1904748 1043027

2041 3480
173322 105891

2080188 1145484

$18586719 $10006979

See accompanying notes

$17741873 $9587216

347045

237014

49630

63025

105333

15000

27799

$18586719

112626

75422

49710

37973

84151

15000

23944

20937

$10006979
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Statements of Income

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Interest income

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities

Interest income on short-term cash investments

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Operating expenses

Management fee

Share based compensation

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Other income/expense

Net gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities

Other income/expense

Net income

Earnings per share common stock basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding

See accompanying notes

2011 2010 2009

$424713 $263751 $282344

1407 1265 771

426120 265016 283115

144662 95923 96267

281458 169093 186848

13787 9205 8677

1150 1432 1296

2724 2507 2475

17661 13144 12448

20576 13551

20576 13551

$284373 $169500 $174400

$3.97 $4.30 $4.82

71708058 39454362 36195840

In thousands except per share amounts
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

In thousands except per share amounts

2011 2010 2009

Net income $284373 $169500 $174400

Other comprehensive income loss

Net unrealized gains losses on securities available for sale 223333 34898 156090

Net unrealized losses gains on interest rate hedges 155902 11934 26754

Other comprehensive income loss 67431 46832 182844

Comprehensive income $351804 $122668 $357244
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Retained Accumulated

Earnings Other

Accumulated Comprehensive

Deficit IncomeLoss

Balance at December 31 2008

Issuance of restricted stock

Cost of issuance of common stock

Share based compensation expense

Dividends declared on common stock

Net income

Other comprehensive income
_____________________________________________________________________________

Balance at December 31 2009
_____________________________________________________________________________

Issuance of restricted stock

Issuance of common stock

Share based compensation expense

Dividends declared on common stock

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
_______________________________________________________________________________________

Balance at December 31 2010

Issuance of restricted stock

Issuance of common stock

Share based compensation expense

Dividends declared on common stock

Net income

Other comprehensive income
_____________________________________________________________________________

Balance at December 31 2011

Dollars in thousands Common
Stock

Amount

Additional

Paid-in

Capital Total

$36 $769159 $2787 $30121 $736287

223 223
1296 1296

162891 162891
174400 174400

182844 182844

$36 $770232 $8722 $152723 $931713

10 271363 271373

1432 1432

181702 181702
169500 169500

46832 46832

$46 $1043027 $3480 $105891 $1145484

31 860571 860602

1150 1150

278852 278852
284373 284373

67431 67431

$77 $1904748 $2041 $173322 $2080188
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Dollars in thousands

Operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by used in

operating activities

Net amortization of premium related to mortgage-backed securities

Amortization related to interest rate swap agreements

Share based compensation expense

Hedge ineffectiveness

Net gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in accrued interest receivable

Increase in other assets

Increase decrease accrued interest payable

Increase decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Purchases of mortgage-backed securities

Purchase of security held to maturity

Principal repayments of mortgage-backed securities

Sale of mortgage-backed securities

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Issuance of common stock net of cost of issuance

Cash dividends paid

Increase decrease in restricted cash on swap arrangements

Proceeds from repurchase agreements

Principal repayments on repurchase agreements

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid during the period for interest

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities

Obligation to brokers for purchase of unsettled mortgage-backed securities

See accompanying notes

2011 2010 2009

$284373 $169500 $174400

93335 41778 19363

346 226 170

1150 1432 1296

655 210 344
20576 13551

25052 2413 7105
1881 20399 291

1419 208 5657
1111 721 47

334880 176270 181785

13351128 5728275 2965826
5000 10000

3559612 2467288 1190153

1766557 563688

8024959 2702299 1785673

860602 271373 223
255827 179027 146228
161592 14061 5366

163847236 76875143 63174301

156365921 74540601 61347217
7924498 2412827 1685999

234419 113202 82111

112626 225828 143717

$347045 $112626 $225828

$143243 $95715 $101924

$397936 $840157 $46453
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Hatteras Financial Corp

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31 2011

Dollars in thousands except per share amounts

Organization and Business Description

Hatteras Financial Corp the Company was incorporated in Maryland on September 19 2007 and commenced

its planned business activities on November 2007 the date of the initial closing of private issuance of common

stock The Company was formed to invest in residential mortgage-backed securities MBS issued or guaranteed

by the U.S Government or U.S Government sponsored agencies such as the Government National Mortgage

Association Ginnie Mae the Federal National Mortgage Association Fannie Mae and the Federal Home

Loan Mortgage Corporation Freddie Mac Agency MBS The Company is externally managed by Atlantic

Capital Advisors LLC ACA
The Company has elected to be taxed as real estate investment trust REIT As result the Company does not

pay federal income taxes on taxable income distributed to shareholders if certain REIT qualification tests are met It

is the Companys policy to distribute 100% of its taxable income after application of available tax attributes within

the time limits prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code which may extend into

the subsequent taxable year

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles GAAP The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Significant estimates affecting the accompanying financial statements include the valuation of MBS and derivative

instruments

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and which are

not restricted as to use to be cash equivalents The carrying amounts of cash equivalents approximate their fair

value

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is cash held in margin accounts at various counterparties to offset interest rate hedging liabilities

Interest Income

Interest income is earned and recognized based on the outstanding principal amount of the investment securities and

their contractual terms Premiums and discounts associated with the purchase of the investment securities are

amortized or accreted into interest income over the actual lives of the securities using the effective interest method

Financial Instruments

The Company considers its cash and cash equivalents restricted cash MBS settled and unsettled forward

purchase commitments debt security held to maturity accrued interest receivable principal payment receivable
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accounts payable derivative instruments repurchase agreements and accrued interest payable to meet the definition

of financial instruments The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash accrued interest

receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments See

Note for discussion of the fair value of MBS and forward purchase commitments See Note for discussion of the

fair value of the held to maturity debt security See Note for discussion of the fair value of derivatives The

carrying amount of the repurchase agreements and accrued interest payable is deemed to approximate fair value

since the lines are based upon variable rate of interest

Since inception through December 31 2011 the Company has limited its exposure to credit losses on its portfolio of

securities by purchasing MBS guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac The portfolio is diversified to avoid

undue exposure to loan originator geographic and other types of concentration The Company manages the risk of

prepayments of the underlying mortgages by creating diversified portfolio with variety of prepayment

characteristics See Note for additional information on MBS

The Company is engaged in various trading and brokerage activities including derivative interest rate swap

agreements in which counterparties primarily include broker-dealers banks and other financial institutions In the

event counterparties do not fulfill their obligations the Company may be exposed to risk of loss The risk of default

depends on the creditworthiness of the counterparty andlor issuer of the instrument It is the Companys policy to

review as necessary
the credit standing for each counterparty See Note for additional information on interest

rate swap agreements

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Company invests in Agency MBS representing interests in or obligations backed by poois of single-family

adjustable-rate mortgage loans Guidance under the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting

Standards Codification ASC Topic 820 on Investments requires the Company to classify its investments as

either trading available-for-sale or held-to-maturity securities Management determines the appropriate

classifications of the securities at the time they are acquired and evaluates the appropriateness of such classifications

at each balance sheet date The Company currently classifies all of its Agency MBS as available-for-sale All assets

that are classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are included in other

comprehensive income The estimated fair values of MBS are determined by management by obtaining valuations

for its MBS from independent sources and averaging these valuations Security purchase and sale transactions are

recorded on the trade date Gains or losses realized from the sale of securities are included in income and are

determined using the specific identification method Firmpurchase commitments to acquire when issued or to-be-

announced TBA securities are recorded at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and

Hedging The fair value of these purchase commitments is included in other assets or liabilities in the

accompanying balance sheets

The Company assesses its investment securities for other-than-temporary impairment on at least quarterly basis

When the fair value of an investment is less than its amortized cost at the balance sheet date of the reporting period

for which impairment is assessed the impairment is designated as either temporary or other-than-temporary In

deciding on whether or not security is other than temporarily impaired the Company uses two step evaluation

process First the Company determines whether it has made any decision to sell security that is in an unrealized

loss position or if not the Company determines whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required

to sell the security prior to recovering its amortized cost basis If the answer to either of these questions is yes
then the security is considered other-than-temporarily impaired There were no such impairment losses recognized

during the periods presented

Repurchase Agreements

The Company finances the acquisition of its Agency MBS through the use of repurchase agreements Under these

repurchase agreements the Company sells securities to lender and agrees to repurchase the same securities in the

future for price that is higher than the original sales price The difference between the sale price that the Company

receives and the repurchase price that the Company pays represents interest paid to the lender Although structured

as sale and repurchase obligation repurchase agreement operates as financing under which the Company
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pledges its securities as collateral to secure loan which is equal in value to specified percentage of the estimated

fair value of the pledged collateral The Company retains beneficial ownership of the pledged collateral At the

maturity of repurchase agreement the Company is required to repay
the loan and concurrently receives back its

pledged collateral from the lender or with the consent of the lender the Company may renew such agreement at the

then prevailing financing rate These repurchase agreements may require the Company to pledge additional assets to

the lender in the event the estimated fair value of the existing pledged collateral declines

Comprehensive Income

In accordance with the guidance included in ASC Topic 220 on Comprehensive Income the Company early adopted

the requirement to separately report its comprehensive income Other comprehensive income refers to revenue

expenses gains and losses that are recorded directly as an adjustment to shareholders equity Other comprehensive

income for the Company generally arises from unrealized gains or losses generated from changes in market values

of the securities held as available-for-sale and derivative instruments

Derivative Instruments

The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with the guidance included in the ASC Topic on

Derivatives and Hedging This guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments

including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts collectively referred to as derivatives and for

hedging activities The guidance requires that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as either

an asset or liability measured at its fair value and that changes in the derivatives fair value be recognized currently

in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met Special accounting for qualifring hedges allows

derivatives gains and losses to either offset related results on the hedged item in the statement of income or be

accumulated in other comprehensive income and requires that company formally document designate and assess

the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting The Company uses derivative instruments to manage

its exposure to changing interest rates generally with interest rate swap agreements

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code The Company will generally not be subject to

Federal income tax to the extent that it distributes 100% of its taxable income after application of available tax

attributes within the time limits prescribed by the Code and as long as it satisfies the ongoing REIT requirements

including meeting certain asset income and stock ownership tests

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation is accounted for under the guidance included in the ASC Topic on Stock Compensation

For share and share-based awards issued to employees compensation charge is recorded in earnings based on the

fair value of the award For transactions with non-employees in which services are performed in exchange for the

Companys common stock or other equity instruments the transactions are recorded on the basis of the fair value of

the service received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued whichever is more readily measurable at the

date of issuance The Companys share-based compensation transactions resulted in compensation expense of

$1150 $1432 and $1296 for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 and 2009 respectively

Earnings Per Common Share EPS

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income available to holders of common stock by the weighted average

number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period Diluted EPS is computed using the two class

method as described in the ASC Topic on Earnings Per Share which takes into account certain adjustments related

to participating securities Net income available to holders of common stock after deducting dividends on unvested

participating securities if antidilutive is divided by the weighted average shares of common stock and common

equivalent shares outstanding during the period For the diluted EPS calculation common equivalent shares
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outstanding includes the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding adjusted for the effect of

dilutive unexercised stock options

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2011 the FASB issued an Accounting Standard Update ASU ASU 2011-03 Transfers and Servicing

Topic 860 Reconsideration of Effective Control for Repurchase Agreements regarding repurchase agreements In

typical repurchase agreement transaction an entity transfers financial assets to counterparty in exchange for cash

with an agreement for the counterparty to return the same or equivalent financial assets for fixed price in the

future Prior to this update one of the factors in determining whether sale treatment could be used was whether the

transferor maintained effective control of the transferred assets by having the ability to repurchase such assets

Based on this update the FASB concluded that the assessment of effective control should focus on transferors

contractual rights and obligations with respect to transferred financial assets rather than whether the transferor has

the practical ability to perform in accordance with those rights or obligations Therefore this update removes the

transferors ability criterion from consideration of effective control This update is effective for the first interim or

annual period beginning on or after December 15 2011 and is not expected to have material effect on the

Companys financial statements

In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 Fair Value Measurements Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve

Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRSs ASU 20 11-04 changes

the wording used to describe many of the requirements in GAAP for measuring fair value and for disclosing

information about fair value measurements to ensure consistency between GAAP and International Financial

Reporting Standards IFRS ASU 20 11-04 also expands the disclosures for fair value measurements that are

estimated using significant unobservable Level inputs This update is effective for the first interim or annual

period beginning on or after December 15 2011 and is not expected to have material effect on the Companys
financial statements

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU 201 1-05 Comprehensive Income Topic 220 Presentation of Comprehensive

Income ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the

statement of changes in equity ASU 2011-05 requires that all nonowner changes in shareholders equity be

presented in either single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive

statements This update is effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15 2011

The Company early adopted ASU 2011-05 utilizing the two separate but consecutive statement option The

adoption did not have material effect on the Companys financial statements

In December 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-12 Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the

Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting

Standards Update No 2011-05 deferring its requirement that companies present reclassification adjustments for

each component of accumulated other comprehensive income in both net income and OCI on the face of the

financial statements Entities continue to be required to present amounts reclassified out of accumulated other

comprehensive income on the face of the financial statements or to disclose those amounts in the notes to the

financial statements The requirement to present reclassification adjustments in interim periods was also deferred

However entities are required to report total for comprehensive income in condensed financial statements of

interim periods in single continuous statement or in two consecutive statements The FASB is reconsidering the

presentation requirements for reclassification adjustments

Financial Instruments

The Companys valuation techniques for financial instruments are based on observable and unobservable inputs

Observable inputs reflect readily obtainable data from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect the

Companys market assumptions The ASC Topic on Fair Value Measurements classifies these inputs into the

following hierarchy

Level Inputs Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets
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Level Inputs Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar

instruments in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose

significant value drivers are observable

Level Inputs Instruments with primarily unobservable value drivers

All of the Companys Agency MBS and derivative and hedging assets and liabilities were valued using Level

inputs at December 31 2011 and 2010 See Notes and respectively for discussion on how agency securities

and hedging assets and liabilities were valued The carrying values and approximate fair values of all financial

instruments as of December 31 2011 and 2010 were as follows

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Carrying Fair Canying Fair

Value Value Value Value

Assets

Mortgage backed securities $17741873 $17741873 $9587216 $9587216

Unsettled purchased mortgage backed securities 49630 49630 49710 49710

Cash and cash equivalents 347045 347045 112626 112626

Restricted cash 237014 237014 75422 75422

Accrued interest receivable 63025 63025 37973 37973

Principal payments receivable 105333 105333 84151 84151

Debt Security 15000 13811 15000 15000

Interest rate hedge asset 23944 23944

Short term investment 20221 20221 19943 19943

Forward purchase commitments 6327 6327

Liabilities

Repurchase agreements $16162375 $16162375 $8681060 $8681060

Payable for unsettled securities 48999 48999 49774 49774

Accrued interest payable 4596 4596 3177 3177

Interest rate hedge liability 219167 219167 71681 71681

Forward purchase commitments 8545 8545

This line included in other assets on the balance sheet

This line included in accounts payable and other liabilities on the balance sheet

Mortgage-Backed Securities

All of the Companys Agency MBS were classified as available-for-sale and as such are reported at their estimated

fair value The Agency MBS market is primarily an over-the-counter market As such there are no standard public

market quotations or published trading data for individual Agency MBS The Company estimates the fair value of

the Companys Agency MBS based on market approach using Level inputs primarily from third-party pricing

services and dealer quotes To validate the prices the Company obtains valuations from independent sources to

ensure the Companys fair value determinations are consistent with the ASC Topic on Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosures and to ensure that the Company properly classifies its assets and liabilities in the fair value hierarchy

the Company evaluates the pricing information it receives taking into account factors such as coupon prepayment

experience fixedladjustable rate annual and life caps coupon index time to next reset and issuing agency among

other factors

The third-party pricing services gather trade data and use pricing models that incorporate such factors as coupons

primary mortgage rates prepayment speeds spread to the Treasury and interest rate swap curves periodic and life

caps and other similar factors Traders at broker-dealers function as market-makers for these securities and these

brokers have direct view of the trading activity Brokers do not receive compensation for providing pricing

information to the Company The prices received are non-binding offers to trade The brokers receive data from

traders that participate in the active markets for these securities and directly observe numerous trades of securities

similar to the securities owned by the Company The Companys analysis of fair value for these includes comparing

the data received to other information if available such as repurchase agreement pricing or internal pricing models

If the fair value of security is not available using the Level inputs as described above or such data appears

unreliable the Company may estimate the fair value of the security using variety of methods including but not
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limited to other independent pricing services repurchase agreement pricing discounted cash flow analysis matrix

pricing option adjusted spread models and other fundamental analysis of observable market factors At

December 31 2011 all of the Companys Agency MBS values were based on third-party sources

The Companys MBS portfolio consists solely of Agency MBS which are backed by U.S Government agency or

U.S Government sponsored entity The following table presents certain information about the Companys MBS at

December 31 2011

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Loss Gain Fair Value

Agency MBS
Fannie Mae Certificates

ARMS $11446397 $278559 $11724956

Fixed Rate 493648 132 1076 494592

Total Fannie Mae 11940045 132 279635 12219548

Freddie Mac Certificates

ARMS 4925438 103540 5028978
Fixed Rate 491289 2064 493347

Total Freddie Mae 5416727 105604 5522325

Total Agency MBS $17356772 $l38 $385239 $17741873

The following table presents certain information about the Companys MBS at December 31 2010

MBS Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Loss Gain Fair Value

Agency MBS
Fannie Mae Certificates

ARMS $6537472 $18342 $138626 $6657756
Fixed Rate

Total Fannie Mae 6537472 18342 138626 6657756

Freddie Mac Certificates

ARMS 2887432 14783 56811 2929460

Fixed Rate

Total Freddie Mae 2887432 14783 56811 2929460

Total Agency MBS $9424904 $33125 $195437 $9587216

The components of the carrying value of available-for-sale MBS at December 31 2011 and 2010 are presented

below

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Principal balance $16938710 $9228093

Unamortized premium 418071 196823

Unamortized discount 12
Gross unrealized gains 385239 195437

Gross unrealized losses 138 33125

Carrying value/estimated fair value $17741873 $9587216
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The Company monitors the performance and market value of its Agency MBS portfolio on an ongoing basis At

December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company had the following securities in loss position presented below

Fannie Mae Certificates

ARMS
Fixed Rate

Freddie Mac Certificates

ARMS
Fixed Rate

Total temporarily

impaired securities

Less than 12 months

as of December 31 201

Fair Market Unrealized

Value Loss

$-
210743 132

23012

$233755 $138

Less than 12 months

as ofDecember 31 2010

Fair Market Unrealized

Value Loss

$1641355 $l8342

1186443 14783

$2827798 $33 125

The Company did not make the decision to sell the above securities as of December 31 2011 and 2010 nor was it

deemed more likely than not the Company would be required to sell these securities before recovery of their

amortized cost basis

The following table presents components of interest income on the Companys Agency MBS portfolio for the years

ended December 31 20112010 and 2009

Coupon interest on MBS
Net premium amortization

Interest income on MBS net

December 31 2011

$518048

93335

$424713

Twelve Months Ended

December 31 2010

$305529

41778
$263751

December 31 2009

$301707

19363

$282344

The following table presents the impact of the Companys Agency MBS on the Companys accumulated other

comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Beginning balance

Unrealized gains losses on agency securities

Reclassification of net income included in income statement

Ending balance

31-Dec-il 31-Dec-10

$26217 $156090

229124 195858
20576 13551

223483 26217

The contractual maturity of the Companys Agency MBS ranges from 15 to 30 years Because of prepayments on

the underlying mortgage loans the actual weighted-average maturity is expected to be significantly less than the

stated maturity The following table presents certain information about the Companys Agency MBS that will

reprice or amortize based on contractual terms which do not consider prepayment assumptions at December 31

2011 and 2010

December 31 2011 December31 2010

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Months to Coupon Reset or Fair Value of Total Coupon Fair Value of Total Coupon

Contractual Payment

0- I8Months $1443135 8.1% 4.75% $632979 6.6% 3.80%

19-36 Months $1010209 5.7% 3.95% 1628967 17.0% 5.15%

37-60 Months $8108775 45.7% 3.33% 5195155 54.2% 3.78%

61 -84 Months $6036655 34.0% 3.32% 1938935 20.2% 3.46%

85-l2OMonths $155160 0.9% 3.96% 191180 2.0% 3.56%

121- 180 Months $987939 5.6% 3.05%

Total MBS $17741873 100.0% 3.46% $9587216 100.0% 3.94%
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Unsettled Agency MBS Purchases

While most of the Companys purchases of Agency MBS are accounted for using trade date accounting some

forward purchases such as certain TBAs do not qualify for trade date accounting and are considered derivatives for

financial statement purposes Pursuant to ASC Topic 815 the Company accounts for these derivatives as all-in-one

cash flow hedges The net fair value of the forward commitment is reported on the balance sheet as an asset or

liability with corresponding unrealized gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income The following

table shows the Agency MBS forward purchase commitments shown as net asset on the balance sheet as of

December 31 2011

Face Cost Fair Market Value Due to Brokers Net Asset

$340000 $348937 $351249 $348937 $2312

Amounts due to brokers are usually settled within 30-90 days after period end

Since the Company purchases forward for the purposes of holding the securities for investment the Company

considers all its Agency MBS settled or unsettled as part of its portfolio for the purposes of cash flow and interest

rate sensitivity and consequently hedging duration measurement and other related investment management

activity

Debt Security Held to Maturity

The Company owns $15000 debt security from repurchase lending counterparty that matures October 31 2016

The debt security pays interest quarterly at the rate of 4.0% above the three-month LIBOR rate The Company

estimates the fair value of this note to be approximately $13811 which was determined by present valuing the

projected future cash flows using discount rate from similar issuer

Repurchase Agreements

At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company had repurchase agreements in place in the amount of $16162375

and $8681060 respectively to finance Agency MBS purchases As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the weighted

average
interest rate on these borrowings was 0.37% and 0.44% respectively The Companys repurchase

agreements are collateralized by the Companys Agency MBS and typically bear interest that are based on LIBOR

At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company had repurchase agreements outstanding with 23 and 20

counterparties respectively with weighted average contractual maturity of 0.8 month and 0.9 months

respectively The following table presents the contractual repricing information regarding the Companys repurchase

agreements

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Balance Contractual Rate Balance Contractual Rate

Within 30 days $16162375 0.37% $7530317 0.38%

30 days to months 1050743 0.60%

months to 36 months 100000 2.96%

$16162375 0.37% $8681060 0.44%

Derivatives Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Company is exposed to certain risk arising from both its business operations and economic conditions The

Company principally manages its
exposures to wide variety of business and operational risks through management

of its core business activities The Company manages economic risks including interest rate liquidity and credit

risk primarily by managing the amount sources and duration of its debt funding The Companys primary source of
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debt funding is repurchase agreements Since the interest rate on repurchase agreement changes on monthly basis

the Company is exposed to constantly changing interest rates and the cash flows associated with these rates To

mitigate the effect of changes in these interest rates the Company enters into interest rate swap agreements which

help to manage the volatility in the interest rate exposures and their related cash flows

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The Company finances its activities primarily through repurchase agreements which are generally settled on

short-term basis usually from one to three months At each settlement date the Company refinances each

repurchase agreement at the market interest rate at that time Since the interest rates on its repurchase agreements

change on monthly basis the Company is constantly exposed to changing interest rates The Companys

objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to

interest rate movements To accomplish this objective the Company currently uses interest rate swaps as part of its

interest rate risk management strategy Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of

variable-rate amounts from counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of

the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount The effect of these hedges is to synthetically

lock up interest rates on portion of the Companys outstanding debt for the terms of the swaps

For qualifying derivatives under cash flow hedge accounting effective hedge gains or losses are initially recorded in

accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the

hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings For the year
ended December 31 2011 and 2010 these effective

hedge losses totaled $273389 and $80351 respectively Ineffective gains or losses are recorded on current basis

in earnings and for the year ended December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company recorded $654 and $210 of hedge

ineffectiveness loss in earnings respectively attributable primarily to differences in the reset dates on the

Companys swaps versus the refinancing dates of its repurchase agreements

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest

expense as interest is accrued and paid on the Companys repurchase agreements During the next 12 months the

Company estimates that an additional $92379 will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense

The Company is hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash flows for forecasted transactions over an

average period of 34 months The table below shows the remaining term of the Companys interest rate swaps as of

December 31 2011

Remaining Weighted Average

Notional Term Fixed Interest

Maturity Amount in Months Rate in Contract

12 months or less $400000 10 1.75%

Over 12 months to 24 months 800000 18 2.05%

Over 24 months to 36 months 2400000 32 1.76%

Over 36 months to 48 months 3700000 42 1.73%

Total S7.300.000 34 1.78%

The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the

discounted future fixed cash receipts or payments and the discounted expected variable cash payments or

receipts The variable cash payments or receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates forward

curves derived from observable market interest rate curves The table below presents the fair value of the

Companys derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the balance sheets as of December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively
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Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

As of December 31 2031 As of December 31 2010 As of December 31 2011 As of December 31 2010

Balance Fair Balance Fair Fair Fair

Sheet Value Sheet Value Balance Sheet Value Balance Sheet Value

Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate

Interest rate hedge hedge asset $0 hedge asset $23944 hedge liability $219167 hedge liability $71681

Other Account payable

Forward purchase commitment assets $6327 and other liabilities $8545

The table below presents the effect of the Companys derivative financial instruments on the income statement for

the year ended December 31 2011

Derivative type Amount of loss Location of loss Amount of loss Location of loss Amount of loss

for cash flow recognized in DCI reclassified from reclassified from recognized in income on recognized in

hedge on derivative accumulated OCI into accumulated OCI into derivative ineffective income on

effective portion income effective portion income effective portion derivative

portion ineffective portion

Interest Rate $273389 Interest Expense $102614 Interest Expense $654

The table below presents the effect of the Companys derivative financial instruments on the income statement for

the year ended December 31 2010

Derivative type Amount of loss Location of loss Amount of loss Location of loss Amount of loss

for cash flow recognized in OCI reclassified from reclassified from recognized in income on recognized in

hedge on derivative accumulated OCI into accumulated OCI into derivative ineffective income on

effective portion income effective portion income effective portion derivative

portion ineffective portion

Interest Rate $80351 Interest Expense $68418 Interest Expense $210

The following table presents the impact of the Companys interest rate swap agreements on the Companys

accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

December3l2011 December3l2010

Beginning balance $47676 $35742
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps 273389 80351
Reclassification of net losses included in income statement 102614 68417

Ending balance $218451 $47676

Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements with certain of its derivative counterparties that contain provision where if the

Company defaults on any of its indebtedness including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been

accelerated by the lender then the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations

The Company has agreements with certain of its derivative counterparties that contain provision where if the

Companys GAAP shareholders equity declines by specified percentage over specified time period or if the

Company fails to maintain minimum shareholders equity threshold then the Company could be declared in

default on its derivative obligations The Company has an agreement with one of its derivative counterparties that

contain provision where if the Company exceeds leverage ratio of 12 to then the Company could be declared in

default on its derivative obligations with that counterparty

As of December 31 2011 the fair value of derivatives in net liability position related to these agreements was

$219167 The Company has collateral posting requirements with each of its counterparties and all interest rate

swap agreements were fully collateralized as of December 31 2011 At December 31 2011 the Company was in

compliance with these requirements
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Capital Stock

The total number of shares of capital stock which the Company has the authority to issue is 100000000 shares of

common stock with par value of $0.00 per share and 10000000 shares of preferred stock with par value of

$0.00 per share The Board of Directors has the authority to increase the authorized amounts or to classify any

unissued shares by setting or changing in any one or more respects the preferences conversion or other rights

voting powers restrictions limitations as to dividends qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption of such

shares

Issuance of Common Stock

On January 2011 the Company completed secondary public offering of 11500000 shares of its common stock

including 1500000 shares pursuant to the underwriters overallotment option at price to the public of $28.75 per

share and received net proceeds of approximately $325707 after the payment of underwriting discounts and

expenses

On March 18 2011 the Company completed secondary public offering of 14500000 shares of its common stock

at price to the public of $28.50 per share and received net proceeds of approximately $407606 after the payment

of underwriting discounts and expenses

On April 2011 the Company issued 2175000 shares pursuant to the underwriters overallotment option from its

March 18 2011 secondary offering at price to the public of $28.50 per share and received gross proceeds of

approximately $61985 before the payment of underwriting discounts and expenses

Issuance of Common Stock CEO Program

On October 2009 the Company entered into Sales Agreement the Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald

Co Cantor to create controlled equity offering program the CEO Program Under the terms of the Sales

Agreement the Company may offer and sell up to 5000000 shares of its common stock from time to time through

Cantor acting as agent andlor principal Sales of the shares of common stock if any may be made in private

transactions negotiated transactions or any method permitted by law deemed to be an at the market offering as

defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended including sales made directly on the New York

Stock Exchange or to or through market maker other than on an exchange For the year ended December 31 2011

and 2010 the Company issued 2361500 and 2314600 shares of common stock in at-the-market transactions

raising net proceeds to the Company after sales commissions and fees of $66221 and $65731 respectively The

total commission and fees charged to additional paid in capital in connection with the issuance of these shares in

2011 and 2010 was $1037 and $1530 respectively The shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the CEO

Program are registered with the SEC on the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 No 333-159145

which became effective upon filing on October 2009
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Earnings per Share

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended

December 30 2011 December 30 2010 December 30 2009

Basic earnings per share

Net income $284373 $169500 $174400

Weighted average shares 71708058 39454362 36196840

Basic earnings per share $3.97 $4.30 $4.82

Diluted earnings per share

Net income $284373 $169500 $174400

Weighted average shares 71708058 39454362 36196840

Potential dilutive shares from 19525

exercise of stock options

Diluted weighted average shares 71708058 39454362 36216365

Diluted earnings per share $3.97 $4.30 $4.82

10 Market and Dividend Information

The New York Stock Exchange trading symbol for Hatteras common shares is HTS The high and low sales prices

and dividends declared on the common shares were as follows

Year Ended December 31 2011 Year Ended December 31 2010

Sales Price Dividend Sales Price Dividend

High Low Declared High Low Declared

First Quarter $30.99 $27.88 $1.00 $28.32 $23.81 $1.20

SecondQuarter 29.39 27.12 1.00 30.03 11.25 1.10

Third Quarter 29.26 23.80 1.00 30.86 26.73 1.10

FourthQuarter 27.31 22.33 0.90 31.98 28.28 1.00

11 Equity Incentive Plans

The Companys equity incentive plans provide for the grant of awards to the Companys employees the Companys

manager and its employees the Companys independent directors and other significant service providers Awards

may consist of nonqualified stock options incentive stock options restricted and unrestricted shares of stock stock

appreciation rights phantom stock awards or other stock-based awards and typically vest over periods of three to

five years from grant date The equity incentive plans are administered by the compensation and governance

committee or by any other committee appointed by the board of directors or in the absence of such committee by

the board of directors At December 31 2011 953077 awards relating to shares of common stock remained

available for grant Unless previously terminated by the board of directors awards may be granted under the equity

incentive plans until the tenth anniversary of the date that the Companys shareholders approved such plan

Stock Option Awards

Each stock option awarded is exercisable after the period or periods specified in the award agreement which will

generally not exceed ten years from the date of grant Stock options will be exercisable at such times and subject to

such terms as determined by the compensation and governance or other administrative committee

The Company recorded compensation expense of $0 $23 and $44 for each of the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively for options issued in 2007 The Company records compensation expense related to

these options over the vesting period of the options At December 31 2011 the Company did not have any stock

options outstanding
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Restricted Stock Awards

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company issued 170730 shares of restricted common stock and

recognized an expense of $412 related to the vesting of these shares The shares vest over three or five year period

The fair market value of the shares granted was determined by the closing stock market price on the date of grant

The Company also recognized $738 of compensation expense in the current year related to restricted shares issued

in prior years
At December 31 2011 the Company had unrecorded compensation expense of $6076 related to the

unvested shares of restricted common stock granted This expense is expected to be recognized over weighted

average remaining period of 4.0 years as of December 31 2011 The following table presents information about the

Companys restricted stock awards for the periods presented

2011

Shares of Weighted

Restricted Average

Stock Price on

Grant Date

Shares non-vested at beginning of year

Granted

Cancelled/forfeited

Vested

Shares non-vested at end of year

111600 $27.89

170730 $26.72

$0.00

28894 $28.71

253436 $27.01

2010

Shares of Weighted

Restricted Average

Stock Price on

Grant Date

74450 $21.39

99409 $28.21

$0.00

62259 $20.62

111600 $27.89

The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested during the year ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 were

$829 $1848 and $1647 respectively based upon the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the

vesting date

12 Transactions with Related Parties

Management Fees

The Company is externally managed by ACA pursuant to management agreement the Management

Agreement All of the Companys executive officers are also employees of ACA ACA manages the Companys

day-to-day operations subject to the direction and oversight of the Companys board of directors which includes

four independent directors The original term of the Management Agreement ended on November 2010 After

that date the Management Agreement automatically renews annually for additional one-year terms unless otherwise

terminated or renewed ACA must be provided 180 days prior notice of any such termination and will be paid

termination fee equal to three times the average annual management fee earned by ACA during the two year period

immediately preceding termination calculated as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter prior to the

date of termination Certain terminations involving the internalization of the Companys management however

may result in lesser termination fee Under the terms of the Management Agreement the Company is responsible

for all operating expenses
of the Company other than those borne by ACA ACA is generally responsible for costs

incident to the performance of its duties such as compensation of its employees and various overhead expenses

ACA is entitled to receive management fee payable monthly in arrears in an amount equal to 1/12th of an amount

determined as follows

for the Companys equity up to $250 million 1.50% per annum of equity plus

for the Companys equity in excess of $250 million and up to $500 million 1.10% per annum of

equity plus

for the Companys equity in excess of $500 million and up to $750 million 0.80% per annum of

equity plus

for the Companys equity in excess of $750 million 0.50% per annum of equity
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For purposes of calculating the management fee equity is defined as the value computed in accordance with

GAAP of shareholders equity adjusted to exclude the effects of unrealized gains or losses For the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the Company incurred $13787 $9205 and $8677 in management fees

respectively In addition the Company recognized share based compensation expense related to common share

options and restricted common shares granted to management of $1150 $1432 and $1296 respectively for the

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company owed

ACA $1200 and $828 respectively for the management fee which is included in accounts payable and other

liabilities

13 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the following components

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Unrealized gain on agency securities net $385101 $162312

Unrealized gain loss on unsettled securities 631 64
Unrealized loss on short term investment 287 136
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments 212123 56221
Accumulated other comprehensive income 173322 105891

This line item is included in other assets on the balance sheet

The Company records unrealized gains and losses on its MBS and swap positions as is described in Notes and

respectively Reclassification adjustment for realized gains and losses on the sale of securities included in

unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities at December 30 2011 and 2010 was approximately

$20576 and $13551 respectively

Comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 consists of the following

components

For the year ended

December31 2011 December 312010 December 312009

Net Income $284373 $169500 $174400

Unrealized gain loss on agency securities 223483 26217 156090

Unrealized loss on short term investment 150 136
Unrealized gain loss on derivative instruments 155902 20479 26754

Comprehensive income $351804 $122668 $357244

14 Contingencies

On September 18 2008 one of the Companys lenders Lehman Brothers Inc LBI defaulted under the terms of

repurchase agreement with the Company that was scheduled to renew on September 25 2008 LBI was placed

under the conservatorship of the Securities Investor Protection Corporation SIPC on September 19 2008 In

2008 the Company recorded receivable of $6048 representing the Companys net cost basis in the assets not

returned as per terms of the repurchase agreement and filed claim against the estate of LBI The Company
determined that collection of this amount to be less than likely and recorded loss $6048 representing the entire

amount of the claim As of December 31 2011 the claim against Lehman is still pending

In late October 2011 one of the Companys lenders MF Global Inc MFG defaulted under the terms of

repurchase agreement with the Company MFG was placed under the conservatorship of the Securities Investor

Protection Corporation SIPC on October 31 2011 Also on October 31 2011 MF Global Holdings Inc the

parent of MFG filed for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S Bankruptcy Code In the quarter ending December 31

2011 the Company recorded receivable of $848 representing the Companys net cost basis in the assets not

returned as per terms of the repurchase agreement The Company determined that collection of this amount to be
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less than likely and recorded loss $848 representing the entire amount of the claim The Company plans to file

claim for the entire amount against the estate of MFG and expects it will take significant time until resolution

15 Summarized Quarterly Financial Results

The following is presentation of the quarterly results of operations for the years
ended December 31 2011 and

2010

Hatteras Financial Corp

Statements of Income

Interest income

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities

Interest income on short-term cash investments
___________________________________________________________________________________________

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income
___________________________________________________________________________________________

Other income

Gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities

Operating expenses

Management fee

Share based compensation

General and administrative _____________________________________________________________________________________

Total operating expenses

In thousands except per share amounts Three months Three months Three months Three months

Ended Ended Ended Ended

December3l2011 September30 2011 June 30 2011 March 31 2011

Ijnaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

$114465 $110125 $113188 $86935

356 380 331 340

114821 110505 113519 87275

42299 40259 35910 26194

72522 70246 77609 61081

2841 13330 4405

3592 3572 3531 3092

415 334 194 207

731 688 746 559

4738 4594 4471 3858

$70625 $78982 $77543 $57223

$0.92 $1.04 $1.04 $0.96

$0.92 $1.04 $1.04 $0.96

$0.90 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00

76606611 75743002 74807174 59442488

Net income

Earnings per share common stock basic

Earnings per share common stock diluted

Dividends per share

Weighted average shares outstanding

F-2



Interest income

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities

Interest income on short-term cash investments

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Other income

Gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities

Operating expenses

Management fee

Share based compensation

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Net income

Hatteras Financial Corp
Statements of Income

Three months Three months

Ended Ended

December31 2010 September 30 2010

Unaudited Unaudited

in thousands except per share amounts Three months

Ended

June 30 2010

Unaudited

Three months

Ended

March 312010

Unaudited

$67668 $63701 $63441 $68941

284 323 298 277

67952 64024 63739 69218

24740 24066 23677 23440

43212 39958 40062 45778

5783 6723 1044

2505 2321 2196 2183

279 463 347 342

572 665 707 563

3356 3449 3250 3088

$45639 $43232 $36812 $43734

$0.99 $1.12 $1.01 $1.21

$0.99 $1.11 $1.01 $1.21

$1.00 $1.10 $1.10 $1.20

46100493 38765078 36609290 36241823

Eamings per share common stock basic

Earnings per share cormnon stock diluted

Dividends per share

Weighted average shares outstanding
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Hatteras Financial Corp

We have audited Hatteras Financial Corp.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based

on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Hatteras Financial Corp.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion Hatteras Financial Corp maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the balance sheets of Hatteras Financial Corp as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related statements

of income comprehensive income shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31 2011 of Hatteras Financial Corp and our report dated February 23 2012 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Raleigh North Carolina

February 23 2012

F-23



Exhibit 12.1

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008

Fixed chargesl 144 662 95 923 96267 104 481

Preferred stock dividends

Combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 144 662 95923 96267 104 481

Fixed charges 144662 95923 96267 104481

Net income 284373 169500 174400 79129

429035 265423 270667 183610

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock

dividends 2.97 2.77 2.81 1.76

Fixed charges consist of interest expense on all indebtedness

No preferred stock was outstanding during these periods



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement Form S-3 No 333-159145 of Hatteras

Financial Corp and in the related Prospectus of our reports dated February 23 2012 with respect to the financial

statements of Hatteras Financial Corp and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Hatteras

Financial Corp included in this Annual Report Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31 2011

Is Ernst Young LLP

Raleigh North Carolina

February 23 2012



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Michael Hough certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hatteras Financial Corp

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-l 5f and 5d-l 5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23 2012

Is MICHAEL HOUGH
Michael Hough

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Kenneth Steele certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hatteras Financial Corp

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5f and 5d-l 5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23 2012

Is KENNETH STEELE

Kenneth Steele

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant To

18 U.S.C Section 1350

as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Hatteras Financial Corp on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended

December 31 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report
Michael Hough Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Hatteras Financial Corp certify

pursuant to 18 U.S.C section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

the Report containing the financial statements fully complies with the requirements of section 13a
or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition

and results of operations of Hatteras Financial Corp

February 23 2012

Is MICHAEL HOUGH
Michael Hough

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant To

18 U.S.C Section 1350

as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Hatteras Financial Corp on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report

Kenneth Steele Chief Financial Officer of Hatteras Financial Corp certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

the Report containing the financial statements fully complies with the requirements of section 13a

or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition

and results of operations of Hatteras Financial Corp

February 23 2012

Is KENNETH STEELE

Kenneth Steele

Chief Financial Officer
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